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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report
misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GET
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, referred to
as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”) together with its strategies and
prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$1,388,000 for the Year (2021:
loss of approximately HK$10,929,000).

The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$8,059,000 for the Year (2021: loss of
approximately HK$18,197,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year
(2021: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the Software Business, the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities
Investment Business (all as defined below). The remaining adverse effects of
the pandemic has brought volatility to global economy and business activities,
which has impacted on the business operations of the Group.

During the Year, the Software Business remained as one of the main revenue
streams and pillar businesses of the Group. Revenue generated from the
Software Business amounted to approximately HK$85,770,000, representing
approximately 80.9% of the Group’s total turnover for the Year. Amidst
headwinds in the global market environment, the Group insisted in adhering
to its corporate strategies, and maximising its strengths in technology and
innovation capabilities through the Software Business. We had constantly
reviewed and upgraded various software products during the Year in order to
keep up with the fast-changing information technology (“I.T.”) industry and to
provide a seamless experience to the software product users.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETEHE
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETEHS

During the Year, the Group optimises its business strategies through its
operation of the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business, the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business,
and the Securities Investment Business. We continued to diversify our
business operations with a view to developing a strong and resilient operation
model to our shareholders. During the Year, the revenue from the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business accounted for
approximately 14.3% of the Group’s total turnover.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$71,222,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$88,289,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group will remain cautious in looking for and evaluating business
opportunities with growth potential. It will continue to strategically invest its
capital with the aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving
further business diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the unprecedented challenge from the remaining
adverse effects of the pandemic and the complicated socio-economic
environment, the Group is cautiously optimistic about the future market
conditions. In the coming year, the Group will continue to endeavour at its
best to capture stable business growth and return, and to ultimately bring
sustainable returns to the Shareholders. The Group will continue to effectively
utilise its resources to expand its core businesses and to keep exploring new
business opportunities with good potential. At the same time, the Group wil
strive to maintain an appropriate balance between risk and return.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere gratitude to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for
their dedication and devotion during 2022.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

17 March 2023

BRIEREIRAT 202255k

RAEFE FERBBEEHPEERBRHEREN
MR G MRF %75 - B2CHE LIHE TR KB2BEME 5
FHURBHREEFBICEHERRIE - HMEEZ T
R PR EFEE > URRREI—EREEF BN
EEBRL - RAFE CEEBRAFEREMARKS
MRDFEBEENRA MR EEQEETEMNL14.3% -

A TECTHF+ZA=+—H xEREEFREARRE
ZEY LUK ERIRIRTERLT1,222,0008 78 > LU
BB EF(E88,289,00078 7T - AN IREHN MBI
FERNBENECRFGRERENNER D BRT
EE AEERFEBRBIEMKERES LAIEFA
RENWARR E—PBREBZL T EMARKRE
R ER R

Al =

REXRZ BEBHEIFER T EERIAIFTR
ARERERNTERERE  2EEH BTSSR
BREENEE RF AEERRETBRE L INE
RRENEFERAEIR  REBRRAEAFEND
Ho-AEEREEAVNABER MEEZOERIL &
BHBABHENFEEK -FR AEERESHER
B a3k 2 BRI B E R T o

e

BB AAEBARRESTE BHEEERORFBE—F
—HEBRAEFAERNEBBH RRNER -5
Sy AEBERETREEFENEE "B " FhmE
FOREBET AATELHE RS R TARNRE

P
=HIF

TERNITEFE

—EBE_=F=F+tH



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$85,770,000 (2021:
approximately HK$87,800,000), representing a decrease of approximately
2.3% as compared to that of 2021. The segment profit of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$22,638,000 (2021: profit of
approximately HK$15,678,000), representing an increase of approximately
44.4% as compared to that of 2021. Such increase in profit was primarily
attributable to the absence of an impairment loss on goodwill in relation to the
cash-generating unit (‘CGU”) of the Software Business (“Impairment Loss on
Goodwill") during the Year (2021: HK$9,000,000). As at 31 December 2022,
with reference to the assessment by an independent valuer, the recoverable
amount of the CGU of the Boom Max Group is valued at approximately
HK$220,384,000. As the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Boom Max
Group exceeded its carrying value by approximately HK$19,026,000, no
impairment was required for the Year. Details of the valuation are set out in
note 22(a) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as set out in
this annual report.

During the Year, the Group has continued to strengthen its foothold in the
software industry through Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Boom Max Group”), the operating unit of the Group carrying
on the Software Business, which is one of the main revenue streams of the
Group. The Boom Max Group continues to offer a wide variety of software
products including computer optimisation, malware prevention, gaming
performance boosting, driver update, data and files protection software, with
an aim to help our computer software users to combat cybersecurity threats
and to reach the maximum computer optimisation.

We insist in the innovation capabilities and customer satisfaction of the Boom
Max Group. Over the years, we have been investing in the research and
development (“R&D”) team which comprises experts dedicating their focus to
network security, building software products and marketing channels. During
the Year, the R&D team has revamped our products in order to accommodate
to the latest trend of the I.T. industry and provide the best seamless experience
to our software users against computer malwares, network security loophole,
and computer optimisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD N

During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Boom Max Group launched new
updates on our products, such as the flagship product Advanced SystemCare
16; the all-in-one solution, namely Advanced SystemCare Ultimate 16; and
the anti-hacker software, namely |Obit Malware Fighter 10. Over the Year, the
Boom Max Group upgraded new versions of other software products as well,
including 10bit Uninstaller, a product featuring function to uninstall unwanted
software or apps and provide our software customers with clean, light and
safe personal computer experience; and 10bit Software Updater, a product
designed to combat possible security loopholes while maximising computer
optimisation and enhance safe and reliable software installation experience to
our software users. New updates on Smart Defrag and IObit Uninstaller further
boost faster and cleaner computer experience for our software users. In the
coming year, we will continue our devotion in developing new upgrades to our
software products, with a view to keeping abreast with the latest technology
trend and enhance user experience.

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to build and reinforce
its sales and distribution channels, including the implementation of
digital marketing campaigns in software products promotion. Apart from
strengthening its customer base in traditional markets, the Group has
continued to explore business opportunities and expand distribution channels
in the emerging markets such as countries in the Asia-Pacific region. In
addition, our software products are available at www.iobit.com, or other
software downloading directory websites and affiliated websites. New versions
of our software products are available for downloading on the website in
different languages, such as English, Spanish, French, Chinese and Dutch. As
at 31 December 2022, according to the internal sales data of the Boom Max
Group, its products had more than 50 million (2021: more than 58 million) new
users in total, including new non-paying and active paying users (i.e. users
who had subscribed our products at least once during the Year).

Looking forward, the whole world is looking for a full global economic recovery
and business activities will gradually resume. In the meantime, potential
change in customer behaviours of computer users in post-pandemic era,
fierce competition in the I.T. industry, inflation concerns, geopolitical pressure
and Russia-Ukraine war may pose uncertainties to the overall economic
activities and this segment in the coming year. It is hard to quantify future
impacts of the pandemic in this segment. The Board will continue to closely
monitor the performance of this segment and the potential impacts from the
pandemic. Looking ahead, the Boom Max Group will continue to focus on
exploring new technological applications in realm and enhancing its software
products. It will also strengthen and expand its distribution and sales channels
by cooperating closely with local dealers and affiliates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business

During the Year, the Group provided corporate management solutions, I.T.
contract services, network infrastructure solutions, network professional
services and I.T. project implementation services (“Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly
in Hong Kong, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Wafer Systems
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).

During the Year, revenue from this business segment was approximately
HK$15,169,000 (2021: approximately HK$26,579,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 42.9% as compared with that of 2021. This
business segment recorded a profit of approximately HK$1,373,000 for the
Year (2021: loss of approximately HK$1,561,000). Such turnaround from
a loss to a profit was primarily attributable to the effective cost control by
the Group during the Year. Based on the assessment by an independent
professional valuer, the recoverable amount of Wafer HK, being the CGU of
the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business,
is valued at approximately HK$12,000,000 as at 31 December 2022. As the
recoverable amount of Wafer HK exceeded its carrying value by approximately
HK$1,421,000 as at 31 December 2022, no impairment was required for the
Year.

During the Year, the remaining adverse effects of the pandemic has caused
disruptions to the Hong Kong economy and operational environment of this
business segment, pressuring on the sales activities of this segment. Coupled
with the severe competition in the I.T. industry in Hong Kong, the market
condition of this business segment is expected to remain challenging in the
coming year. The Group will endeavour to expand its customer base in order
to improve the financial performance of this segment. In the meantime, the
Group’s management will continue to pay close attention to the prospect of
this business segment and may consider the possibility of, including but not
limited to, scaling-down or disposal of this business segment in the coming
future.

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

During the Year, revenue derived from this business segment was
approximately HK$5,089,000 (2021: approximately HK$156,000). The
segment loss of this business for the Year was approximately HK$3,806,000
(2021: loss of approximately HK$3,654,000), representing an increase of
approximately 4.2% as compared with that of 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERE Rk

The Group is committed to enhancing the lifestyle of its customers through
developing online and offline sales channels to offer quality products to
customers around the world. During the Year, the Group engaged in the
operation of the business-to-customer online sales platform (‘B2C Online
Sales Platform”), focusing on offering quality electronic lifestyle products to
international customers.

Headwinds of the volatile market environment and the remaining adverse
effects of the pandemic have been posing challenges to this business
segment. This segment was scaled down during the second half of the Year.
Looking ahead, the Board will continue to carefully review and pay close
attention to the performance of this business segment in exercising prudent
cost control and credit risks control and maintaining an appropriate balance of
risks and opportunities.

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, the Group recorded a segment loss for the securities
investment business (“Securities Investment Business”) of approximately
HK$6,517,000 (2021: loss of approximately HK$5,853,000). The segment
loss was primarily attributable to the net fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL Financial Assets”) of approximately
HK$6,604,000 for the Year (2021: fair value loss of approximately
HK$6,151,000).

Global geopolitical tensions, change of governments’ policies, and the
social and economic conditions due to the remaining adverse effects of the
pandemic had brought instabilities to the Hong Kong financial market over the
Year. Looking forward, the change of governments’ policies, market liquidity,
inflation expectation, and the post-pandemic situation will continue to have
impacts on the Hong Kong financial market and its sentiment. The Group wil
continue to explore potential investment opportunities and closely monitor
the Hong Kong securities market as well as the performance of the Securities
Investment Business.

As at 31 December 2022, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI
Financial Assets”) of the Group were approximately HK$24,037,000 (31
December 2021: approximately HK$30,488,000) and approximately
HK$1,040,000 (31 December 2021: approximately HK$1,067,000)
respectively, consisting of eight (2021: seven) investment items, six of which
are shares listed on the Stock Exchange, one of which is shares delisted on
the Stock Exchange on 4 May 2021 and the remaining one is shares of an
unlisted company. As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of each of the
FVTPL Financial Assets and the FVTOCI Financial Assets contributed less than
5% of the Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group was approximately HK$106,028,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 7.4% as compared to the revenue
of approximately HK$114,535,000 for 2021. The revenue of the Group for
the Year was mainly contributed by the revenue of (i) the Software Business
of approximately HK$85,770,000; (i) the Corporate Management Solutions
and |.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$15,169,000; and
(i) the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of
approximately HK$5,089,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the Year decreased by approximately
3.2% to approximately HK$72,812,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$75,200,000 for 2021.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group were approximately HK$144,000 for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 38.7% from approximately
HK$235,000 for 2021.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$1,388,000 for the
Year (2021: net loss of approximately HK$10,929,000). The net loss for the
Year was mainly the combined effects of (i) segment profit of the Software
Business of approximately HK$22,638,000 (2021: profit of approximately
HK$15,678,000) while there was no impairment loss on goodwill recorded
for this segment for the Year; (i) segment loss of the Securities Investment
Business of approximately HK$6,517,000 (2021: loss of approximately
HK$5,853,000); (i) segment profit of the Corporate Management Solutions
and |I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$1,373,000
(2021: loss of approximately HK$1,561,000); (iv) segment loss of the B2C
Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of approximately
HK$3,806,000 (2021: loss of approximately HK$3,654,000); and (v) other
corporate expenses of approximately HK$11,987,000 incurred during the Year
(2021: approximately HK$11,802,000).

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$8,059,000 for the Year as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$18,197,000 for 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$71,222,000 (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$82,482,000), which were principally denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (2021: United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi). During the Year, the Group generally
financed its operations with internal resources and there was no significant
change in its capital structure.

As at 31 December 2022, the borrowings of the Group, being a loan from
financial institution, amounted to approximately HK$600,000. The loan is
unsecured, bear interest at 12% per annum and repayable within one year.
The borrowing is arranged at fixed interest rate and denominated in Hong
Kong dollars.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$301,537,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$309,511,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$55,672,000 (31
December 2021: approximately HK$57,033,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 18.5%
as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately 18.4%).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend for the Year (2021:
Nil).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$630,000) (31 December 2021:
approximately US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$630,000) for
securing banking facilities of HK$500,000 (31 December 2021: HK$500,000)
granted to the Group. The pledged bank deposits were denominated in United
States dollars with a term of six months at fixed interest rate of 0.45% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had undrawn banking facilities of
approximately HK$304,000 (31 December 2021: approximately HK$206,000).

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi. The United States
dollar is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the
Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar. The Group has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.

Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$301,537,000 as at
31 December 2022 mainly included intangible assets of approximately
HK$113,797,000, goodwill of approximately HK$60,525,000, the FVTPL
Financial Assets of approximately HK$24,037,000 and the FVTOCI Financial
Assets of approximately HK$1,040,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets
and FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk
due to fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the
FVTPL Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security price
risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance and
operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible assets,
and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets annually
and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or changes in
circumstances pointing to potential impairment.

The Board is aware that Silicon Valley Bank (‘SVB”) was closed by the
California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation on 10 March
2023, and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) of the United
States of America (‘United States”) has been appointed as receiver of SVB
(“Incident”).

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had total cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$70,592,000 and as of 16 March 2023, the Group
has a total cash of approximately US$361,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,800,000) deposited in its account maintained with SVB, accounting
for 4.0% of the total cash and cash equivalents of the Group and less than
0.9% of the total assets of the Group, in each case, as at 31 December 2022.
The Board considers that, () taking into account the fact that the Group’s
cash deposited with SVB only represented a relatively low percentage of the
Group’s total cash and cash equivalents and total assets as at 31 December
2022 respectively; and (i) based on the amount of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents mainly maintained with other banks, the Group has sufficient
working capital to meet its capital, contractual and other obligations, including
selling and administrative expenses, finance costs and other expenses for at
least the next 12 months and beyond from the date of this report. The Board is
of the view that the Incident has no material adverse impact on the Group, and
the business operation and financial condition of the Group remain normal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks which each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek directions.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly attributable to its trade and
other receivables. During the Year, the Group’s credit risk mainly arose from
the operating activities of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product
Trading Business and the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business. Please refer to note 6(c) to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report for details of the credit risk of the Group
for the Year. The trade and other receivables of the Group were approximately
HK$28,284,000 as at 31 December 2022. During the Year, the receivables
collection may be affected by the overall market environment caused by the
remaining adverse effects of pandemic and geopolitical instability. To minimise
credit risk, the Directors continue to closely monitor the overall level of credit
exposure, whereas the management is responsible for determining credit
approvals and monitoring the implementation of collection procedure to
ensure follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the
end of a reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATIONS
Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, received an amended writ of summons
(“Amended Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“Convoy Global”) (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd
Plaintiff”) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as
the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th
defendant (“Perfect Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of
the defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent Placees
(being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around
October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of
the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs against
Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against, among
others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st Plaintiff’s shares to,
among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is
null and void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for payment
of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation to be assessed
and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful
means conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against, among
others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other matters, the October
2015 Placing and the allotment of the 1st Plaintiff's shares pursuant to
the same; and

(i)  the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a) general
or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further and/or other
reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the Amended
Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s defence.
The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the other defendants’
defence, and as such the pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not
been closed yet.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.

UPDATE ON MATERIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT

During the Year, the Group did not record any Impairment Loss on Goodwill
(2021: approximately HK$9,000,000).

Details of the impairment tests for the CGUs containing goodwill are disclosed
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal during the Year.
Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 22 employees (31 December
2021: 29 employees). During the Year, the total staff costs of the Group
(including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$16,136,000 (2021: approximately HK$15,755,000). The Group’s
remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance of
the employees, with a principle to strengthen its competitiveness in the
market and comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration
packages are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other
staff benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and discretionary performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share
option scheme in place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the
share option scheme of the Company are set out in the section headed “Other
Information—Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets were approximately
HK$43,125,000 (31 December 2021: approximately HK$45,461,000). Please
refer to note 41 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report for details.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, global economy will continue to be full of uncertainties.
The world is expecting pandemic recovery and global economic recovery on
one hand, sluggish economic activities due to the remaining adverse effects
of COVID-19, ongoing geopoalitical risks, Russia-Ukraine war and upcoming
interest rate hikes on the other hand. These factors pose a great degree of
challenges to the global economic outlook in the year ahead.

It is important to remain resilient and strong of our businesses, amidst the
challenging time in 2023. Therefore, the Group will continue to bolster its
capability in technology and lift up its priority to serve our customers around
the world through offering them quality I.T. products and services. We are
confident on our relentless focus on driving innovation and sustainability
outlook to our Shareholders. In future, through the Boom Max Group, one
of the main pillar businesses of the Group, we will continue to focus on
technological innovation and uplift our research and development capabilities.
To maintain our competitive edge in the long run, the Group persists our effort
in upholding our commitment to enhance customers satisfaction and product
innovation for our software product users.

We insist that our people are the necessary key to success. Amidst the
pandemic time, health and safety of the Group’s employees are always at the
top of the Group’s priority. Safety measures were adopted to prevent from the
spread of virus in the workplace. For examples, frequent cleaning, disinfectant
and face masks have been provided at the head office. Going forward, as a
reliable and caring corporation, we will continue to implement appropriate and
necessary safety measures in order to safeguard the health of our employees.

Mapping out sustainable and resilient strategies of the Group, the Group will
continue to promote its capacities in technological empowerment, enhance
customer satisfaction, and adhere to a prudent approach in achieving
sustainable financial performance. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to endeavour in ensuring a healthy momentum on its businesses and to
withstand market risks and fluctuations ahead. The Group will also carefully
monitor the overall market and maintain an appropriate balance of risks
and opportunities in order to achieve sustainable growth and returns to the
Shareholders of the Company.
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EXELAWS

The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance in high
standard with quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report about their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions of the then prevailing Corporate Governance Code set out in
Part 2 of Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised five members, two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Lau
Siu Cheong (chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive Officer”))
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yung, Mr.
Cheng Hong Kei and Ms. Wong Chi Yan. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board. On 19 April 2022,
Professor Chui Tsan Kit resigned as an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Ms. Wong Chi Yan was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April 2022.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Group’s business and for the exercise
of independent decisions. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are professionals in
different areas, who provide independent opinions based on their expertise.

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED ({3285
fR/AE]) (“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CONCORD Group”). As at 31 December 2022, he was interested in 100%
interests in CONCORD. In addition, as at 31 December 2022, Mr. Wong was
also one of the ultimate beneficial owners of a group of companies (‘EPRO
Software Group”). Further details in relation to the directorship of Mr. Wong
in the said companies are disclosed in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” and in the sub-section headed
“Competing Interest” in the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this
report.
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As at the date of this report, there is no relationship among members of
the Board (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship). The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For special Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Attendance of Directors at Meetings EEHETECR

During the Year, 7 Board meetings had been held for reviewing business RAFEER > HBT7TRESTZZRZUBTRA T ER
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and policies — 3RIR > i1 B Sl AN A B B2 RS SR BS K PR B EL (h 3£ 75
of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record of each ~ FE o FR#FIZBEKRITESTNAEFENLEES
current and former Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and EREEEEHZESEEZURTATRRASHICH -
the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table

below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HEBR EEXY
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Note Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
M e £xg FMNEEE BREEE ReZ8E REKRE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong wBIFZEE 77 NATER N/A REF N/A REF 11
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong 2JERE 77 NATER N/A R N/A R H 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors B JERITES
Mr. Chan Yung RE&LE 7/7 3/3 5/5 3/3 1/1
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei =lE g C 6/7 3/3 4/5 3/3 11
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIEGREIE 1 3/3 il 11 11 N/A TR
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BERuL 1 4/4 2/2 4/4 2/2 11
Note: PEET
1. Professor Chui Tsan Kit resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the 1. RREHEREBLIFNTES - FNEEE TR UK
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit EREZEORRLEEGRENRE BT F
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April 2022. Ms. OB+ NBEEM FERZTRBEZEABIULIERITE
Wong Chi Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the E HNEEEETEUNREREZEERIELEEEER
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit N8 BZE__FMA+hBHEEX-

Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April 2022.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the meeting with the  IIlE9h ' RAEER BEECTETEEREMBESTELF
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors ~ FIIE R FEIBIIIEHITE SR ITEE T H o
during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITRAEE

During the Year, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were ~ MZAREE » B RITBAEER 2 B2 B H AR A T
separately held. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and is fF-XFEEEETRESEETENAENEEREL
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board whereas  M{THAFHEEEINTEBNERLEURAEE
the Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Group’s business development and IR o

daily management and operations generally.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive Directors. More details are set out in sub-section
headed “Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors” in the
section headed “Report of the Directors” in this report.

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in
its best knowledge considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy on or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders after appointment. Other relevant provision in the Bye-law states
that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include
(so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation)
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment. All Directors should retire by rotation at least once
every three years.
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EXELAWS

Under the CG Code, every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific
term: Ms. Wong Chi Yan was appointed for a term of 3 years commencing
on 19 April 2022 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong Kei were
appointed for a term of 3 years both commencing on 24 November 2020. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Company’s circular, to be sent to the Shareholders, contains detailed
information of the Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Newly appointed
Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of their responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules, relevant statutory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development trainings to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code on continuous professional development during the Year.
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EXERWS

Attending or participating in
seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant
to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company
HEXNZHEEMLELTATESAR.
BAEERBENHAAE TIEHR
Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BIEERE v/
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong 2PJKERE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Chan Yung v
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERERIE S v
Professor Chui Tsan Kit (Note 1) RREEIE (1) v
Ms. Wong Chi Yan (Note 1) Z+ (BEEE1) v

Note: P5E

1. Professor Chui Tsan Kit resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the 1. RIFGHEFEB LA TES FWNEEEETEUR
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit EREEERIEREEGEENRE B2 °F
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April 2022. Ms. OB+ NBREEM SERZTREZEABIULIERITE
Wong Chi Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the B HFNEEEETRURERZESRRELEZEERE
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit W& BZZ-_FMA+hBREER-
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April 2022.

Company Secretary NEME

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours

of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the ~ ¥ E 5 A5 K A0 o

Year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but

ESMMBHRRAKENRET

distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 59 to 63 which  §ll) » Eh A E B Z BN AP R EM AR ST o
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.
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EXERWS

Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the total fee paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, RSM
Hong Kong, and its affiliate firm in respect of audit and non-audit services are
set out below:

FHRKRRE

EEARREAEIRESBENF2EFTBABRK
B (MREMEA) RBER G ERGRRARATRFEDN
FHREMBES LBEFRVYBRREFLEBMA T
HR-BFWANBEMR RN AR RFEEEENBE
BREXREBNEANERABANEARNTHERRAR

FETEGR

EERR ERUEVBBRERF AEBEEHRAER
GEHEER WARBRE A G5t ERIFL S EME HA H B
5t

RS2
EFAEAERAIEEBEREFIERBY B RNE
StEcEr AIRBAEEN S SR BILRE R A E BN
K

RIEEE

EFFEERN—VGEMBIR UREFEENSE
B W LR REBNBIIMEEREMAIZ 2 5
ZHENEN =

RAEFE  SRB AR BRB QA QBB ER =

BN EBMIREBBEAST N, A EBRZEN
T

HK$’000

FHET

Audit services ZE RS 1,000
Non-audit services IEZBBRTS 460
Total 485t 1,460
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
and on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

o evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control

systems; and

. oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

° designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

o identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

° reviews the risk areas and risk level;
o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;
o coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk

and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.
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EXERWS

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

o Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

o Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

o Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

o fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management;

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls

and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan; and

. report to the Audit Committee for findings identified during the review
and propose recommendation for follow-up action.

During the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee, reviewed the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems for the Year, which
cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Company’s environmental,
social and governance performance and reporting, and assessed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group by reviewing the work and findings of the internal audit function. Such
review is conducted annually. Both the Audit Committee and the Board
considered that the systems were effective and adequate for the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends by
the Company are also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.

BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Ms. Wong Chi Yan* (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates will participate in deciding that Director’'s own remuneration.

* Appointed on 19 April 2022
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee performed the following major

tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

o determined the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management;

o made recommendations to the Board of the remuneration packages of
non-executive Directors; and

o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors

and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments (including the member of the current senior management of
the Company) are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.

In addition, pursuant to the Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the member of the current senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) FENEEE GBT)
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)

Ms. Wong Chi Yan*

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Ms. Wong Chi Yan possess the appropriate
professional qualifications and/or accounting and financial management

expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

* Appointed on 19 April 2022
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:
(@) to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of auditor;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, financial
results and reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and
effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company, report on the
Company’s internal control and risk management review and processes, re-
appointment of external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. During the Year, the Audit Committee
also met the external auditor twice without the presence of the executive
Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor. During the Year,
the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2021, the first
quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2022, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and the third quarterly results for the
nine months ended 30 September 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Ms. Wong Chi Yan*

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

* Appointed on 19 April 2022

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending any
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become the Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer; and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) and making disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company from time to time.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of
candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considers that an appropriate balance of diversity perspective of the Board is
maintained.
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In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 and updated on 30 December 2021 and by considering
various factors, including but not limited to (i) character and integrity; (i)
qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate strategy;
(iii) willingness to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as a Director; (iv)
requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the GEM
Listing Rules; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and (vi) such
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee performed the following major
tasks:

o identified Ms. Wong Chi Yan as a candidate for directorship and made
recommendation on the appointment of Ms. Wong Chi Yan as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee to the Board based on the nomination process
and criteria as set out above;
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o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives and the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board;

o reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for

directorship; and

o assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors.

Analysis of the Board’s composition as at 31 December 2022 is set out in the
following chart:
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Gender Diversity
Board Level

As at the date of this report, gender diversity has been achieved at board level
upon the appointment of Ms. Wong Chi Yan as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 19 April 2022.

In respect of succession plan for maintaining gender diversity at board level,
the Board will ensure, by providing equal opportunities for all candidates
regardless of gender in respect of recruitment and staff promotion and
selecting the right candidates for appointment to the Board based on a range
of diversity perspectives as well as merits and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, that it has a diverse pipeline of candidates
ready to step into leadership positions when vacancies arise.

Workforce Level

The details of workforce composition were disclosed in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

The strategy of the Group is to select the rights candidates based on their
qualifications, experience, skills, potential and performance, and in order
to enhance efficiency, the Company has not set a measurable objective for
achieving gender diversity at workforce level. In particular, gender diversity is a
challenge in the I.T. industry with its nature of work. Nonetheless, on a merit-
based policy, the Company commits to providing equal opportunities for all
people regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, marital status, family status or
disability during our recruitment and staff promotion process.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at a general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.
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Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the

total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

3. The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong (from time
to time), for the attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six
weeks before the annual general meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week before the
general meeting in the case of any other requisition.

4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong (from time to time), for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person to be proposed for election as
a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.geth.com.hk.
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EXERWS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong (from time to time), for the attention of the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong from time to time. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be)
to the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy has been reviewed by the Company
during the Year. The Company considered that the implementation of such
policy was effective.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

0] corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, notices of meetings, listing documents and circulars
are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at
www.geth.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as required by the
GEM Listing Rules;

(ii) corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

(i) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(iv)  annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

(V) the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect
of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to be in line with the latest legal and regulatory requirements, including
the amendments made to Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing Rules which took
effect on 1 January 2022, the Board has put forward to the Shareholders a
special resolution to adopt the new Bye-laws in substitution for, and to the
exclusion of, the then existing bye-laws of the Company (“Then Bye-laws”).
On 22 June 2022, a special resolution for adopting the new Bye-laws in
substitution for and to the exclusion of the Then Bye-laws was passed by the
Shareholders at the 2022 annual general meeting of the Company.

For details of the new Bye-laws, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 24 May 2022 and 22 June 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 26 May 2022.

EXERWS

REERGERERRER

EFSRMRRBEER TERBAABREERRE
ETEENEN - ZERRETERRRLBETIRES
FIBERS K R M E B R AT T E R ZINIEBNE R &
REER T FERZIRB R - A A BB R ZEEERR
BB M-

AEBRBUNTETREMNERERRETRE

i3t

() RIEGEMLEMRANMNRE BRI IZE B —
275 3 LLEN B A 72 =X T 85 36 AT 5L Bk AT PR AR i
www.hkex.com.hkz 2 A 5] 48 hwww.geth.com.hk
BERNABBH MER - PHRE FTERS
KBS L XHRIBR

(i)  FIREABAELEE
RAD R~ EHRRN 5

BARARBHNABER UKL EFE

BRI PrE BRI B
RTINS ;

(iii TR B X P Ko AN A B) 48

REBFAERREFIAGRHRREMERE
RURHEERBREEAETRERNEGS ;
D4

()

ERENRNBRELEARRERROAERL
B ~ BARRER REMEERIRE

=

BEXH

AUARNZEREEER BER "2 - "F—F—
HAEMZGEMEHRAME =B EFG0RRREN
—IERRIRER  BA A BRI 2 B ARE IR K
BEARBERFRAARME (BERATMA) - N ZF
TCERBIHIH REREAREN R _FRE
BFERE BB T R AR LERA R
ERBMAIBERIRER

EE

BRI ARMANFE FE2RARARNAMAA T
FRR-+HARTE_HFXREZ+ZHNAEN
RAELBRMATZE " FR A" +/RBRER-

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

38



39

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 32, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018. He is
the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong is a member of the 13th
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science
in Mathematics from the King’s College London in the United Kingdom in
August 2014. After graduation, Mr. Wong undertook training at Legend Capital
Co., Ltd. BB EAREIER(HBPRAE], a company engaging in venture capital
business in the PRC, from October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the
director of Aerophant Capital Management Co., Ltd. REBAEEF R AT,
a company engaging in venture capital business, since June 2018.

Mr. Wong is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED ({22 B RAE)
(“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “CONCORD
Group”). As at 31 December 2022, he was interested in 100% interests in
CONCORD. In addition, as at 31 December 2022, Mr. Wong was also one
of the ultimate beneficial owners of a group of companies (‘EPRO Software
Group”). The CONCORD Group and the EPRO Software Group are principally
engaged in the provision of professional |.T. contract and maintenance
services.

Mr. Wong is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of the
Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong serves as an
executive Director for a term of three years commencing on 29 October 2021
and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (‘Mr. Lau”), aged 49, has been appointed as (i) an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since 8 February 2021; and
(i) the company secretary of the Company and the authorised representative
for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules
since August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting)
degree from the Curtin University of Technology in 1999. He obtained a Master
of Corporate Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2021. He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a fellow of both the Chartered
Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and holds Chartered Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional dual
designations. In 2022, he obtained an estate agent’s individual licence under
the Estate Agents Ordinance (Chapter 511, the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. Lau
has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Lau was the
finance manager of the Company from January 2010 to July 2013. Mr. Lau
was the financial controller of the Company from August 2013 to August
2022. Mr. Lau is principally responsible for, among others, the overall financial
management, financial planning and budgetary control of the Group and
carrying out company secretarial functions of the Group. He is also responsible
for the Group’s business development and daily management and operations
generally. He is also the director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lau serves as an executive Director for a term of three years commencing
on 8 February 2021 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (“Ms. Wong”), aged 41, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 19 April 2022. She was awarded a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree in Accounting from The Hong Kong Baptist
University in December 2003. She was further awarded a Master of Laws
degree in International Corporate and Financial Law from The University of
Wolverhampton in the United Kingdom in November 2016.

Ms. Wong is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate of each of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Wong has
extensive experiences in auditing, accounting and financing as well as merger
and acquisition.

Ms. Wong has been currently serving as an independent non-executive
director for the following public companies listed in Hong Kong, namely (i)
Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and (i) China Hongbao Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8316), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Wong is also the company secretary and authorised representative of
China Properties Investment Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 736).

Ms. Wong served as an independent non-executive director for (i) Huiyin
Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1178), the shares of which were delisted
from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 22 August 2022, from October
2017 to June 2020; (i) Bay Area Gold Group Limited (stock code: 1194),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from March 2019 to July 2021; and (i) Asia Television Holdings Limited
(stock code: 707), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, from January 2019 to December 2022. She also served as
the company secretary and authorised representative of Flyke International
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1998), the shares of which were delisted from the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 29 January 2021, from March 2017 to
December 2020.

Ms. Wong serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three

years commencing on 19 April 2022 and is subject to retirement from office
and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Yung B8s, Jp (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 53, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor's Degree from The City University of Hong Kong, a
Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master's Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Wang On
Group Limited (stock code: 1222), whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the chairman of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002.
Mr. Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
13th National People’s Congress of the PRC and a member of the Legislative
Council. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman of Democratic Alliance for the
Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. He has been appointed as a member
to the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption with effect from 1 January 2023.

Mr. Chan serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years commencing on 24 November 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBE

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 68, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. He
studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 35 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 21) and China Apex Group Limited
(previously known as KEE Holdings Company Limited) (stock code: 2011),
whose shares are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
is an independent non-executive director of South China Assets Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8155) until 1 April 2022, the shares of which were no
longer listed on GEM with effect from 7 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years commencing on 24 November 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Ho Fai (“Mr. Tong”), aged 37, has been appointed as the
financial controller of the Company since 1 September 2022. He obtained
a Bachelor degree with Honours in Finance, Accounting and Management
from University of Nottingham in 2008. He obtained a Master of Corporate
Governance degree from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2017. He is
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
the member of both the Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and holds Chartered Secretary and
Chartered Governance Professional dual designations. He has over ten years
of experience in audit, finance, accounting and management.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
1204-5, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is
principally engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC
performance software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisements; (2) the operation of a business-to-customer online
sales platform, and the business-to-business product trading; (3) securities
investment; and (4) provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services during the Year. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 64 to 190 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the Year
(2021: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EXEHS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also,
the financial risk management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These discussions form part of this report
of the Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted to
HK$100,000 for the Year (2021: HK$100,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 June 2017,
details of which are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisting at the end of the Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned
sections of this report forms part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on pages 68 to 69 of this report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2022, the deficit of the Company was approximately
HK$486,594,000 (2021: deficit of approximately HK$460,889,000).
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s total revenue for the Year attributable to the
Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
= the largest customer: 3.03%

- five largest customers in aggregate: 8.89%
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The percentages of Group’s purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases
- the largest supplier: 40.29%
- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 78.23%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in notes 30 and
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission of greenhouse gases, industrial pollutants, sewage
and hazardous waste. Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to
environmental protection in order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

An Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report of the Company
in compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules is published on the same day
of this report at the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. A copy of the ESG Report can be viewed and downloaded from
the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) under the “Listed
Company Publications” section and from the website of the Company
(www.geth.com.hk) under the “Financial Reports” sub-section of the “Investor
Relations” section.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

In extending and/or granting credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully
assess creditworthiness and financial standing of each individual customer.
Management will also closely monitor all outstanding debts and review their
collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the
world. In relation to the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous amount
of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process of
online transactions. It is of significant importance for the Group to handle their
data with care so as to comply with the laws and regulations relating to data
privacy. Employees are required to fully abide by the provisions stipulated
when handling customers’ data and they are prohibited from any unauthorised
copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
customers’ identities and transaction records.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance
with any relevant laws and regulations that posed a significant impact on the
Group.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors continue to monitor the situation closely and have considered
the impacts of the adverse effects of COVID-19 on the Group’s business and
financial performance. However, the situation is continually evolving and the
consequences are therefore inevitably uncertain.

The Directors are also aware that one of the bankers of the Group, Silicon
Valley Bank (“SVB”), was closed by the California Department of Financial
Protection and Innovation on 10 March 2023, and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) of the United States of America has been
appointed as receiver of SVB (“Incident”). As at 31 December 2022, the
Group has total bank deposits held at SVB of approximately US$361,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,800,000) of which US$111,000 (equivalent
to HK$861,000) is uninsured. These deposits are subject to the FDIC’s fund
transfer arrangement. In the opinion of the Directors, the Incident has no
material adverse impact on the Group. Further details are set out in “Financial
Risk” under the sub-section headed “Risk Factors” of the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and re-presented as appropriate, is set out on
page 191 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the transactions with
key management personnel who are Directors in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements fell under the definition of “connected transactions” and
they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company has not entered into any connected

transactions that are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (i#E85&
FR/AF]) (“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CONCORD Group”). As at 31 December 2022, he was interested in 100%
interests in CONCORD.

In addition, as at 31 December 2022, Mr. Wong was also one of the ultimate
beneficial owners of a group of companies (“EPRO Software Group”).

The CONCORD Group and the EPRO Software Group are principally engaged
in the provision of professional I.T. contract and maintenance services,
and such business activities may compete with the Group’s Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including any person who
at any time during the Year was a Director), controlling Shareholder, nor their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The changes of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual

e

RAEFEREERFRAR EFLEHMT :

report were:
Appointed on Resigned on
P TBAEZRE FAF B HAEHE

Executive Directors WITES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman) BIFERE (FE) 29 October 2018 =
—E-NFEt+AZ+A1H -

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (Chief BRIt (TEAHER) 8 February 2021 =

Executive Officer) “E-—FZANH -

Independent Non-executive Directors EIIJEMITES

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (Note) RIgEEEEE () 23 April 2015 19 April 2022
“E-RFEMA-+=H “EC_HFMUA+ANH

Mr. Chan Yung P8 S i 24 November 2017 =
—_E—tHF+—AZ+WmA -

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERERAR S 24 November 2017 =

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (Note)

aER L (i)

—F—tHF+—-AZ+EA
19 April 2022
“E_FMA+H

Note: Professor Chui Tsan Kit resigned as an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April
2022 in order to devote more time to his other business commitments. Ms.
Wong Chi Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect from 19 April 2022.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy on or as an addition to the existing Board shall
be subject to re-election by the Shareholders after appointment.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retiremnent at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 39 to 43 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

None of the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the
Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive Directors including the following:

° Every independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may affect his/her independence.

o The independent non-executive Directors should make a positive
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments.

. The independent non-executive Directors shall at least annually attend
meeting with the Chairman of the Board without the presence of other
Directors.

The Company confirmed that it has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year, nor did
any Director have direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been
acquired or disposed of by or leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Group at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was () no contract of significance entered into by and/or subsisted
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his subsidiaries to the Group entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares
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Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital

Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
AR HERT

EEHSR 513 BEEENRHEE RABOBE DL
(Note 1) (Note 2)

(Mg5E1) (HizE2)

Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177 (L) 75.0%

BmBEAA

=IEE
Notes:
1. “L” denotes a long position.

2. The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
of the Directors, at no time during the Year or at the end of the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors and the chief executive, their respective spouses or children under
the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the
Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company on 13 June 2017
and adopted on 15 June 2017.

The Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entities in
which any member of the Group holds equity interest.

The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force until 15 June 2027 and after such date no further options shall be offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted before its expiry or termination but not yet exercised.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval
of a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (‘General
Scheme Limit”). Previously granted options which may be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

Each grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate is the proposed grantee). Where any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant. Such option will be offered for acceptance within such time specified in
the offer which shall not be later than 21 days from the date on which the offer
is made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
The exercise price for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined at the discretion of the Board but in any event shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Share.
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EXEHS

During the Year and as at the date of this report, no share option has been
granted. There was no outstanding share option under the Share Option
Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 respectively.

The number of options available for grant under the General Scheme Limit of
the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 was
44,444,823 Shares.

For the Year, the number of shares that may be issued under the Share Option
Scheme during the Year was nil, and divided by the weighted average number
of Shares of 444,448,237 Shares as at 31 December 2022, is nil.

As at 31 December 2022 and at the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 44,444,823,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of
any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2022, had, or was deemed or taken to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in
relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and
Ms. Wong Chi Yan. The Audit Committee holds a meeting at least quarterly
each year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been
reviewed and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and
release of information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

17 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZHETHRS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GET HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GET Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
64 to 190, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the ~ B4z & MR PR EE M HIE - M ETIZEER
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
have determined the “Impairment assessment of goodwill” to be the key audit
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matter and how our audit addressed this key audit matter is set out below:

Key Audit Matter
PSR E % EIE

Im&alrment assessment of goodwill

2R BT
Refer to notes 4(c), 4(u), 5(a) and 22 to the consolidated financial

statemen
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$60,525,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (“Boom Max
Group”) and Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).
Management has allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
units ("CGUs”"). Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on
an annual basis.
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The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value-in-use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects.
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The inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill is considered significant as the impairment assessment
involves significant estimates and assumptions which were
subjective. Therefore, we identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill is a key audit matter.
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Audit Matter

We understood and evaluated the key internal control over the
impairment assessment of goodwill, and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainly and level of other inherent risk factors including
subjectivity.
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We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of the
impairment assessment on goodwill to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process.
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We evaluated the independent valuer's competence, capabilities
and objectivity.
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We used our in-house valuation specialists to assess the integrity
of the models used and the appropriateness of the discount
rates, long-term growth rates, other information, assumptions
and estimates for the impairment assessment determined by
management.
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We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.
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We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts in light of historical
results and the current operating environment.
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We challenged the management’s sensitivity analysis in
consideration of potential impact of reasonable possible downside
changes in key assumptions.
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We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwiill.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIZHEMRS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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BIZHEMRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Szeto Tai Shun.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountant
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

17 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

o A 2 2L
FEEER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 e e e == 5 e
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2022 2021
—EZZ —ET—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FHET FET
Revenue KA 8 106,028 114,535
Cost of sales HE A (33,216) (39,335)
Gross profit EF 72,812 75,200
Other income EHMA 9 1,132 1,300
Other gains and (losses), net Hiham ke (8518) » %58 10 (8,039) (14,954)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment losses £ 5 K& EAth FE Uk IR (E 518
on trade and other receivables ol (B 2,722 (2,615)
Selling and administrative expenses HEMITHMAX (66,015) (65,448)
Profit/(loss) from operations EE N (6518) 2,612 6,517)
Finance costs BE kA 12 (144) (235)
Profit/(loss) before tax PRIAETEF, (B518) 13 2,468 (6,752)
Income tax expense FriStRBEsZ 14 (3,856) 4,177)
Loss for the year EEEEIE (1,388) (10,929)
Attributable to: WTFALREM :
Owners of the Company KABEB A (8,059) (18,197)
Non-controlling interests JEFE R e 2R 6,671 7,268
(1,388) (10,929)
Loss per share (HK cents) FHRES1E GBIl 18
Basic f=%IN (1.81) (4.09)
Diluted #E (1.81) (4.09)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HAHnkEMEENTR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEE__F+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
2022 2021
—F== T
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
i FHET FHET
Loss for the year EEEEIE (1,388) (10,929)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEas - 19
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B E# P 4EE B AIES -
Exchange differences on translation ITEEINTB AT
of financial statements of overseas MR REENERETE
subsidiaries 60 (16)
ltems that will not be reclassified to T EEM P EERmIYER &

profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at H@EMEEmE U A FEEEYER

fair value through other comprehensive HRATENAFBEES

income (FVTOCI) (27) (68)
Other comprehensive income mEEHMEEWE  NRRE

for the year, net of tax 33 (84)
Total comprehensive income for the year ZEE R EUREELREE (1,355) (11,013)
Attributable to: LR ALRER :

Owners of the Company KABEB A (8,026) (18,281)

Non-controlling interests JEPERG RS 6,671 7,268

(1,355) (11,013)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBIRRR

At 31 December 2022

j— = H =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FHET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERZE 20 648 759
Right-of-use assets FRESE 21 347 1,166
Goodwill [EES 22 60,525 60,525
Intangible assets B EE 23 113,797 102,852
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEREMEEWEURFEE
FIERNEREE 25 1,040 1,067
176,357 166,369
Current assets RENEE
Inventories E8 26 1,290 1,544
Trade and other receivables 85 Kk EAMEWRIE 27 28,284 27,994
Financial assets at fair value through EBBmUATEEYERSN
profit or loss (FVTPL) EHEE 28 24,037 30,488
Tax recoverable AU EIIRIE 347 634
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITER 30 630 630
Cash and cash equivalents B RIREEEY 30 70,592 81,852
125,180 143,142
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B o Rk EMEMRIE 31 7,773 9,223
Contract liabilities BHEaE 29 1,784 1,871
Borrowings RN 32 600 1,267
Lease liabilities HEaR& 33 313 829
Current tax liabilities ERREBESRE 26,421 26,483
36,891 39,673
Net current assets RBEERE 88,289 103,469
Total assets less current liabilities BELERTBAE 264,646 269,838
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 4 389
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEAE 34(a) 18,777 16,971
18,781 17,360
NET ASSETS BEFE 245,865 252,478
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRAR

At 31 December 2022 RIETHF+"HA=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
2022 2021
—s-= —=—_—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FET
Capital and reserves B K #E
Share capital &N 35 4,444 4,444
Reserves e 37 199,836 207,862
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZSA BB AFE(GER 204,280 212,306
Non-controlling interests JEIEREE 41,585 40,172
TOTAL EQUITY RS 245,865 252,478

Approved by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2023 and are signed onits &KBEZEN T _=ZFE=-H+tHLETHUTES

behalf by: HREE
Wong Jing Shong Lau Siu Cheong
HifE 2%k a
Director Director
EE BF

67 ESERBMRAT 2022FH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(OS5 7wllny)

Attributable to owners of the Company

lw'F

SRnEHE

BETE__HF+_A=1+—HIFE

NG N
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf E30
ks ROEE  BHES ERGE fE  ZubR it i s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Thn Tin Thn Tin Thn TEn Thn Tin
At1 January 2021 RZE--5-8-A 4444 517,181 992,154 %) (2242 (1,280,855) 230,587 38,267 268,844
Loss for the year EEEER = = = - - (18,197) (18,197) 7,268 (10,929
Other comprehensive income Efn2Eka - - - (16) 68) = 84) = 84)
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
forthe year - - - (16 69 (81 (18280 7.068 (11,019
Dividends paic to non-controling Bk ERERNRE
interests (note 24) (Fizk24) - - - - - - - (5,353) (5,359
Changes i equty for the year KEEREREH - - - - - - - (5,359 (5,359
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ-F
+ZB=1-H 4444 517,181 992,154 (1) 2310 (1,209,052 212,306 40172 252,478
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEZE2BHR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_Z_—

BT

Attributable to owners of the Company

FH+"A=1+—HLFE

FRFARE NS
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf R
ks RIYEE  ERER  ERHE fE  ZubR it Eq g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TEL ThEL TET TEL TET TEL Thn TEL ThEn
At 1 January 2022 RZE-"%-8-A 4444 517,181 992,154 (1) (2310 (1,299,052) 212,306 0172 262478
Loss for the year TEERR = S - - - (8,059) (8,059) 6,671 (1,388)
Other comprehensive income Efn2Eka - - - 60 27 = kel = kel
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the year - - - 60 27 (8,059) (8,026) 6,671 (1,355)
Dividends paic to non-controling Bk ERERNRE
interests (note 24) (Fzt24) - - - - - - - (5.258) (5259
Changes i equty for the year KEEREREH - - - - - - - (5,258) (5,258
At 31 December 2022 e S
+ZA=+-H 4,444 517,181 992,154 (51) %1  (1307,111) 204,280 41,585 245,865
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2022 2021
kot B %
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5% FHET FHExT
CASH FLOWS FROM KEEHRER=E
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax prIQETEA, (B518) 2,468 6,752)
Adjustments for: KR .
Bank interest income RITFI S WA (277) (160)
Amortisation ey 35,911 33,371
Depreciation on property, ME- -BERRZEITE
plant and equipment 183 428
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEERE 736 1,463
Dividend income B EUWA (177) (419
Finance costs ES=I0%N 144 235
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL ~ #EiBiEx U A T EBEY RS R
BENQATEEESE 6,604 6,151
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets RILEAREEZ Wm (1) (100)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERRENEE
equipment 535 -
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEIE - 9,000
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss 85 REMERRIERERE
on trade and other receivables CHENE (2,722) 2,615
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GRERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
2022 2021
—ECCF B %
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5% FHET FHExT
Operating profit before working EEESEHAINEERT
capital changes 43,404 45,832
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EERLD () 254 (1,357)
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 R EMERRIE
and other receivables R, (g 2,432 (718)
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL FEBEmUAAFEEYTEN
SREE AL - (24,329)
Decrease in trade and other payables 85 REMEARERLD (1,450) (2,451)
Decrease in contract liabilities sHa’‘RD (87) (86)
Cash generated from operations REEFEMEIRE 44,553 16,891
Income tax paid BEAIPTER (1,825) (2,490)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE (26) (126)
Net cash generated from K EEMSIRE R
operating activities 42,702 14,275
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETHRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERTITH S 277 160
Dividend income BEA 40(0)() 24 419
Expenditure on development projects ERBEENS H (46,856) (45,461)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - BERZEN
plant and equipment Frigs1E 50 =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE BERRZE (666) 6)
Net cash used in investing activities G E RPN A IR e FEE (47,171) (44,888)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 e e e == 5 e
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2022 2021
—ECCF B %
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM MEEHRENE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid ENFE (118) (109)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENIEERERRKE (5,258) (5,346)
Principal elements of lease payments AENRBAEED (817) (1,485)
Borrowings raised e X 300 1,267
Borrowings repaid BEBEH (967) -
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFTARS R (6,860) (6,673)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERIREEBYR L BEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (11,329) (36,293)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERIES —F s 69 (29)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—BNRERAESEEY
1 JANUARY 81,852 118,174
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+ZA=+—HHRER
31 DECEMBER HE%EY 70,592 81,852
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND RERREEEMIH
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 30 70,592 81,852
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 AN

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
30 July 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1204-05, 12/F., Centre
Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Mr. Wong Jing Shong is
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 16
(March 2021)

Annual Improvements Project

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations

Amendments to Accounting
Guideline 5

The Group did not change its accounting policies or make
retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the
abovementioned amended standards or annual improvements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
I = |

A1 %5 SRR I 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not applied any new standard, amendments to
standards and interpretation that have been issued but are not
yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2022.
The new standard, amendments to standards and interpretation
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification 1 January 2024
of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current 1 January 2024
Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS 1 January 2023
Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of 1 January 2023
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred 1 January 2023
Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
Arising from a Single Transaction
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease
Liability in a Sales and Leaseback

1 January 2024

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its

To be determined by the
HKICPA

Associate or Joint Venture

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

1 January 2024

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in
the acquisition are, with limited exceptions, measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities.Non-monetary items that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
vat the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

83

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipment and
office premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S BHmRMEE

uﬂ'\

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be made
under reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the lease liability. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by,
which does not have recent third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out
in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group took
advantage of the practical expedient not to assess whether the
rent concessions are lease modifications, and recognised the
change in consideration as negative lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S BHmRMEE

uﬂ'\

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred. Costs on development activities
are capitalised as intangible assets only if all of the following
conditions are met:

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

- There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

= It can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

= Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset are available;

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer
performance software, anti-virus software
and mobile applications (“Computer and
Mobile Phone Software”)

2-6 years

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

U]

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(v) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
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A1 %5 SRR I 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(0)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer control
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. IFEE:HEE (@)
(0) Revenue and other income (continued) (0 WAKEMIKE &)

() Service income 0 ARFELA

Services fee income from |.T. contract services
including I.T. maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the software when a contract is
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer
has the right to use it.

Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products is recognised when control of the goods
has been transferred which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

(i)

Toolbar and advertisement income

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.

The Group recognises revenue as a performance
obligation at a point in time when the revenue can be
measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably
assured.

Interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(0) Revenue and other income (continued)
W) Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

(i) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(p) Employee benefits
(0 Employee leave entitlerments

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities for the Group’s
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes
are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

(q)

Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing
that remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its
intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(s)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends either to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting
entity.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the reporting entity.

99 ESERBMRAT 2022F#H

BE"Z__HF+_R=-1+—HLEFE

BT

4.

®

EEHE (@)

Ik y]

RS AR EERARBOALTHE
%%O

A HEFALRFEK TEE/Y//’Z#F@/{/,%’
SR A IR E BRI

() HEARSEBITFENHLE
B

iy HREBSREBEARES;
59

(i) HBREBEIRTEESA
BINEFEBEBABZ—o

B HEEERT S FERFEA > R
AR BB R -

() ZEERERTIBEEBEFR—&%
B S EENEAE
BRrAIkERKEASTEME
A B o

(i) ZERBAS—SRENBER
AHEeEtE A5 —BRA
MEASNEEETHER
BINHE TR G EhE-

(iif FﬁF‘sﬁ;E‘*i’]?%ﬂ B=AH
B

vy —HEERA-—BE=F58
VEERE - MZHE— EE.‘E:%

ZE=PDEENBHEQT

v EBEREAURSEENETMEHA
REEREMBERNEST
T ER K BE B IR AR 51 &) o i
BEBRASEAME R
HEPNEITHERESERE
B



For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies. (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(i) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provide key management personnel

services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
and other receivables, pledged bank deposit and bank and cash
balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

S significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

S significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

0] the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

S information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

S significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

= it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

107

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

x)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(a)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD”) of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated. The
VIU calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than the expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise. Calculation of fair value
using a market approach requires valuation technique which
uses prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical and comparable groups of assets
and liabilities or business, a control premium and marketability
discount.

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
reporting period was approximately HK$60,525,000 (2021:
HK$60,525,000) after an impairment loss of approximately
HK$NIl (2021: HK$9,000,000) was recognised during the year.
Details of the impairment test for CGU containing goodwill are set
out in note 22.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

109

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)

Recoverability of intangible assets

The management has evaluated the impairment of intangible
assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by reference to the
discounted cash flows derived from financial budgets approved
by the management of the Group or FVLCD with reference to
the latest market transactions. If the higher of the VIU or FVLCD
is less than the corresponding carrying amounts, an impairment
loss may be required.

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability of its
internally-generated intangible assets arising from the Group’s
Computer and Mobile Phone Software development. The
projects continue to progress in a very satisfactory manner,
and customer reaction has reconfirmed the Group’s previous
estimates of anticipated revenues from the projects. Detailed
sensitivity analysis has been carried out and the Group is
confident that the carrying amount of the assets will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will be closely
monitored, and adjustments made in future periods, if future
market activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer and
Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$113,797,000 (2021: HK$102,852,000). No impairment loss
(2021: HK$NIl) was recognised during the year. Details of the
impairment review refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect
management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to
derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.
The management performs annual reviews of whether the
assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When
useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously
estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2022
was approximately HK$113,797,000 (2021: HK$102,852,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets as at 31 December 2022 were approximately
HK$648,000 (2021: HK$759,000) and approximately
HK$347,000 (2021: HK$1,166,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(e)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market are determined
by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to
select and consider information from a variety of sources and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these
estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market at the
end of the reporting period were approximately HK$1,040,000
(2021: HK$1,067,000) and approximately HK$3,886,000 (2021:
HK$4,731,000) respectively.

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on the credit
risk of trade receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to changes in facts
and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$11,280,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$5,027,000) (2021:
HK$18,924,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$7,329,000)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$3,856,000 (2021:
HK$4,177,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated profit.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the solely payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial
assets at FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons
are consistent with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate
and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the
periods presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
T8

A1 %5 SRR I 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of
share prices of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL. The directors review the exposure to the equity security
price risk on the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2021: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$104,000 higher/lower (2021:
HK$107,000 lower/higher) and approximately HK$2,007,000
(2021: HK$2,546,000) lower/higher respectively, arising as a
result of the fair value gain/loss of the financial assets at FVTOCI
and financial assets at FVTPL respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2021: one) of its equity securities
investments which is classified as financial assets at FVTOCI
accounted for 100% (2021: 100%) of its financial assets at
FVTOCI and three (2021: three) of its listed investments which are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL accounted for 75% (2021:
76%) of its financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2022.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial assets is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for which
the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are
due within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-
by-case basis. Normally the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. The directors are of the opinion that no
further provision for uncollectible receivables is required in the
consolidated financial statements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral or guarantee from customers and service
providers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 52% (2021: 61%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL which is calculated using a
provision matrix on individual segment. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer and services provider
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
and service provider bases. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a simplified method. The Group has assessed
that the ECL for trade receivables based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
following:

= Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

= Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)

- E-commerce which involves the operation of a business-
to-customer online sales platform, and business-to-
business product trading (“B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ T+ _RB=-1+—HIFE
BT

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HHEEMEIE (B)

(c) Credit risk (continued) 0 FEERK @

Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)

TRERTAEEBR T -_—_F+_-7

The following table provides information about the Group’s

exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBUKRE ZEKHREN
December 2022: TEREERmIENEN
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TERRES IR LERRE(E EEigEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables 5 EKRRIE BAL FET FHET
At 31 December 2022 RIZE__H+-B=+—H
Software Business BT
Not past due AR 0% - -
Less than 1 month past due AHAR BB —E A 0% 9,021 =
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0% 153 =
More than 3 months but less AERABE=ESERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0% 5 =
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0% 2 =
Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR
I.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due FRiEHA 7.9% 630 50
Less than 1 month past due BEArBB—EA 8.0% 712 57
1 to 3 months past due mi—ZE =18 9.4% 314 29
More than 3 months but less HHPBE = E A EREE
than 12 months past due +E@A 17.7% 197 35
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C#d L iH & F &5 KB2B
B2B Product Trading Business EmBRER
Not past due FREHA 0% 417 =
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 100% 4,856 4,856
16,307 5,027
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RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MHBEEEIE @)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERK G
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREBTEAREERZ-_ZZ—F+ZA
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBUREZEKHREN
December 2021: TERAEERmIENEN
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE R MREREE EiaEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables 5 EKRRIE Bt FHET FHET
At 31 December 2021 BT —FE+—gH=+—01
Software Business BT
Not past due AR 0% 12,058 =
Less than 1 month past due AHAR BB —E A 0% 145 =
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0% 125 =
More than 3 months but less AERABE=ESERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0% 3 =
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0% 2 =
Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR
I.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due FRiEHA 8.1% 2,151 175
Less than 1 month past due BEArBB—EA 8.3% 604 50
1 to 3 months past due mi—ZE =18 8.9% 266 23
More than 3 months but less HHPBE = E A EREE
than 12 months past due +=E@A 16.9% - -
Over 12 months past due AHAEE+—EA 100% 20 20
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C#d L4 & F &5 KB2B
B2B Product Trading Business EmBRER
Over 12 months past due AHPEBE+ @A 64.9% 10,879 7,061
26,253 7,329
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
T8

A1 %5 SRR I 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, other financial assets at
amortised cost mainly include loan receivables from Jun Yang
Energy Holdings Limited (“Jun Yang Energy”), amounts due from
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and other miscellaneous
receivables.

For loan receivables and other receivables, the management
performed assessment on the recoverability of the outstanding
balance periodically.

The Group had assessed lifetime ECL on the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy following the significant deterioration in the
operating results of Jun Yang Energy during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
Lifetime expected credit loss allowance for the loan receivables
from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000 was recognised in full
during the year ended 31 December 2018 as the management
assessed the ECL rate to be 100%. The management has
reassessed the lifetime ECL of loan from Jun Yang Energy, no
reversal on the allowance for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

For other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa at 31 December 2022, the Group assessed lifetime ECL
throughout each reporting period by past experience. The lifetime
ECL of amounts due from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa as at 31 December 2022 are approximately HK$860,000
and approximately HK$1,149,000 respectively.

For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary,
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
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6. MBRKRERE (@

()

EERE (&
HEH A AT BB MTHEE (B)

HR B —F+"_A=+—HBXKEHEZE
BRI ERMEL T 2 H RIS A&
BEERBEATCRIHSREHNEEE
EHCEHEERB - RNIZ T 28+
B=+—HREWEBBAERMEZ LT
MIBMEEFERZBREESED DN
#860,0007% 7T K2 491,149,00078 7T ©

HRER—BRBARZ FEREEMR
R BRI E AR R WGRRIR B B Uk o] 14 7F
SRR AR - RIF12E B FEAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

MHBRAREE (@)

(c) Credit risk (continued) © [EERKE @)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB MEE ()
For other miscellaneous receivables, the management makes HREMBEERKRRIE EEETHEZ
periodic collective assessments as well as an individual L EUGRIER) A W O] 1 1T S RS ST K M
assessment on the recoverability of these receivables. Lifetime G - BEE_“F+"HA=+—H
expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$Nil FTFERBEETEANTEREEBHIE
(2021: HK$593,000) was recognised during the year ended BEOATET (TTT—4 1 593,000
31 December 2022. 7o) °
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and B 5 R H AU IR BB H RN EBM
other receivables is as follows: T
Other
receivables
from
Fragrant
River,
Mr. Chan
Loan from Sze Long Other
Trade Jun Yang and Ms. Lim  miscellaneous
receivables Energy Wah Elsa receivables Total
RBEI
REBMATER
FEKER WHELZTH Hit#1a
B A EKRIE BERER  HtEKRIE FEBFRIE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHERT FERT F#ERT FERT
At 1 January 2021 - Sy = R 4,757 27,230 17,400 1,800 51,187
Impairment losses recognised for the year FERRRHHERE 2,639 - - 593 3,232
Written off 6] - - (14,400) - (14,400)
Reversal 4] 67) - (550) - 617)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022  HZZEZ—F+ZA=+—HE
—E-—%—A—-H 7,329 27,230 2,450 2,393 39,402
Impairment losses recognised for the year FERRRHHERE - - - - -
Written off b6 (21) - - - (21)
Reversal 4] (2,281) - (441) - (2,722)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZRA=1+—H 5,027 27,230 2,009 2,393 36,659

The reversal of expected credit loss in B2C Online Sale
Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of approximately
HK$2,205,000 and Corporate Management Solutions and
I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$76,000
(2021: Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business of approximately HK$67,000) were due to the
settlement of long outstanding receivables during the year.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(d) Liquidity risk

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

B ERERE (8)

d FEEZER

The Group’s objective and policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash

FEMPNBERRBE R EHEERE LA
HRBREFE UWEREREHREH
BimEERk RIS EEERE

FEBZIFTEEREERESORTER

(e)

flows of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows: RWEREZABEITAOT -
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and 5 years 5 years Total
DiE 1326 2FE55 fichictyad st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THET THET THET
At 31 December 2022 RZE_”_#+-B=+-H
Trade and other payables B3 REMEMTIE 7,773 - - - 7,773
Borrowings fam 618 - - - 618
Lease liabilties HEaR 313 4 - - 317
At 31 December 2021 RIE2Z—F+-A=+—H
Trade and other payables A REMENRIE 9,223 - - - 9,223
Borrowings EEN 1,267 = = = 1,267
Lease liabilities HEaR 856 336 60 - 1,252
Interest rate risk (e) F=EREpE
A —

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s significant interest-
bearing assets and liabilities are bank deposits and borrowings.

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits and borrowings are at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair values interest rate
risk.

—®o A=t
B FEENEAN QHERSERRT
ARG

S

FEBMBRTERFSWABRF BT
REBME > W H A E BB BRI
BERFHEE-

A BRI IRIT I R A R B 2R
5B WATATHENEAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HBERMEIE @
()  Categories of financial instruments at 31 December Hh MRIZEZTEF+ZTHA=1+—HWEH
2022 T AR
2022 2021
—ECHF B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Financial assets:
Financial assets at FVTPL:

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL

ERMEE
ERERUATEETERN
THBE !
BFIEBIBHEUATEEFE

— Held for trading —FEEE 24,037 30,488
Financial assets as FVTOCI: FBHEMEEWEU A FEET
IRMNSREE :

Equity instruments BATHR 1,040 1,067
Financial assets measured at amortised cost Z# S AT EM SR B E 84,937 108,119
Financial liabilities: THBaE:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB A ENEMERE 8,373 10,490
Lease Liabilities HE&aE 317 1,218

(9) Fair values (9 AFEE
REBREVBERARAITNEREERS
MEENEEERESENAQAFEEME

position approximate their respective fair values. o

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ZE__HF+_B=1+—HIFE
CLBTAIT)

7. ATEEHE

ATBERTHE2REZBARFAERHEAFR
ZHPHEBEERWESEERERSIRNER-
TXREERAATEBESRFENATEE B
FStBATEENGEES ZRARBRILY /=
(EELEIN

E—RBARE: FTEBRURFEEHEUH
HREENERNIEED
HRE RIEHEE) -

BTRBARE . HEAHEENEESI&R
FIRERARE MEFE—
RETEIERRE -

BZMBARE: BEIAEENTARER
N ST

AEBNBRSEDHEEREENSEHRET
BERVER = ER BB A KRB LB

(@ E"-I- A=+—HBNAFEESFRK

==

December: =
Fair value measurement using: Total
ATEEFEFRRABR : et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
F—R BT F=k ZFZZH
Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
H#1E FHT THET FHT FHT
Recurring fair value measurements: EHEATEENE
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL EREmUATEE
RN R E
Listed equity securities EHRAES 20,151 - 3,885 24,036
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AE S = = 1 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEBEMEE W E
MAFEETRN
EREE
Unlisted equity securities JE LR ARE - - 1,040 1,040
Total st 20,151 - 4,926 25,077
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

BE_ B _F+_RA=1+—HIFE
BT

7. RFEESE B

@ R+ZBA=+—BNATEESFRIK

December: (continued) BE.®
Fair value measurement using: Total
ATEBEFEMABR HEt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
F—ik o E=r - -
Description HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3 FHET FHET FHET FERT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAEEEHE :
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BE@iBm AT EE
FERI SR B
Listed equity securities FHRAES 25,757 = 4,730 30,487
Unlisted equity securities JEJ:FEHR PN+ = = 1 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI HE@EMEmlE
AT EETIRN
THMEE
Unlisted equity securities JE LT RRARE - - 1,067 1,067
Total st 25,757 - 5,798 31,555

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one of the listed

equity securities investments was delisted on the Stock
Exchange and was reclassified as unlisted investments.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based

D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

BE_ 2 _F+_A=+—HILEE
GEBTTHI)

7. RFEESE @

b) REF=RBATEEFENEEH

on Level 3: BR :
2022
ZEICH
Financial assets at FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
BRHMEEKEMN EdEEN
ATEEIRNEHEE ATEEIRNEHEE
Listed Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity equity
securities securities securities securities
Lt JEEH L L
RaES RaxES RaES RAES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET THET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_“F#—F—H - 1,067 4,730 1
Total losses recognised KI5 E RN EAE
~in profit or loss —B&H - - (845) =
~ in other comprehensive income —-Hfth2EE = (27) - -
At 31 December 2022 i ——
+-B=+-H - 1,040 3,885 1
® Included in other gains and losses ® FAEMB R R EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(o) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

7. ATEEE @
b) REF=RBATEEFENEEH

on Level 3: (continued) iR (@
2021
ET—F
Financial assets at FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
FREMZEREN BPEREN
NFBEIENEHMEE NFBEIENEHEE
Listed Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity equity
securities securities securities securities
tH FEEH tH FEEH
RAES RAES RAES BAES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TET TERT
At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—%—F—H 1,135 - 4,731 =
Total gains/(losses) recognised 5B B R
WiE/ (B518) 4%
—in profit or loss ! —18&" - _ _ _
- in other comprehensive income —HEf2ENE 68) = = =
Reclassified as Level 3 BMNEAE=R (1,067) 1,067 (1) 1
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ-%F
+-A=+-H - 1,087 4,730 1
® Included in other gains and losses ® FAEMB R R EE

The total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in fair value change of equity instruments
at FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those

for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2022:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

= yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

= dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

= present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

S probability-weighted profit

= discount factor

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7. RFEESE @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AT EEE @@
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 HWEXAEERWR-ZZ"HF+ZAH
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFR&HERER HER A
measurements at 31 December 2022: (continued) ANFEEFEFMREAZE (@
Level 3 fair value measurements BZRAFIBEE
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2022 2022
BAREEN REfE ATEE
b fhfER BARE §E HATEENFE ZECCE ZECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BBRBHEUATEEIR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 3,885 3,885
Return on relevant (5.28%)  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER (6.23%)  1&m
MEMTRE 8% "D
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (68.93%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 1B
TR SEEER (58.93%) 11N
MEMTRE 3% AL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,040 1,040
securities Return on relevant (68.93%) Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—F EmRAES RUERE KE 01678 &M
BB mBEHER (58.93%) 12
MENMATIRE 3% AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c)

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. AT EEE @@
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (o) WEXRERNR_Z_—F+"8
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFBR®ERR HERITX
measurements at 31 December 2021: (continued) ANFEEFTEFMREARE | (@
Level 3 fair value measurements (continued) BoRAFEEE (B
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique  Inputs Range  of inputs 2021 2021
BABBIEM REE ATEE
Hik hERds BARE #E HATEENYE “ET-F %
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn
Financial assets at FVTPL
FRERNATEETR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 4,730 4,730
Return on relevant 1321%  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER 1321% 12
MEMTRE 8% "D
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (6.77%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 50%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 1B
TR SEEER (6.77%) &M
MEMTRE 50% B
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,067 1,067
securities Return on relevant (6.77%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 50%  Decrease
—F EmRAES RUERE KE 01678 &M
TR EAER 6.77%) M
MENMATIRE 50% AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

8. WA

@ WARS

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by FREZERBEEINELENBANT :
service line for the year is as follows:
2022 2021
—EZC —E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Revenue from contracts with customers & B FEIRE R F159F
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HBEANETRSHKA
Sales of computer and mobile phone SHE B FoREN B LUK
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 85,770 87,800
Provision of corporate management REPEEERMAFTER
solutions and I.T. contract services BRI S0RBER
business 15,169 26,579
E-commerce which involves the operation rEHEEERLHEFAR
of a business-to-customer online sales TrEHTPEERESEEN
platform, and the business-to-business BTFEH
product trading 5,089 156
106,028 114,535
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_Z__H+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA @

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued) @ WAZD @

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and
services over time and at a point in time in the following major

FEBMUUTEEERG MBI —
BEBREERSERERE R KRB ES

product lines and geographical regions: WA

Corporate Management Solutions and ~ B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B

Software Business 1T. Contract Services Business Product Trading Business Total
HE
For the year ended +-B=+-A TEERRARER BCELHETAR
31 December Jlz:3:4 RiER ERGECHLGED BBEREAER ot
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
g 5-F EC BT -E %2 "B -E k- S “EC-F
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#r TEn TiEn TER TR TEn TER TEn
Primary geographical markets ~ +EHE 17
- United States -2 33,084 30,523 - = 660 = 34,644 30,523
- Hong Kong &% 918 1,040 15,169 26,579 1 - 16,088 21,619
- Germany -8 6,872 5,761 - - 3 - 6,905 5,761
- United Kingdom -5 5,496 5208 - - 1 - 5,497 5208
- Japan -Bx 3,845 6,520 - = 8 156 3,928 6,676
- Canada -mgx 2812 2712 - - 80 - 2,892 2712
- Australia — B 2,623 2483 - - 45 - 2,668 2,483
- Russia -fEH 666 3329 - - 1,259 - 1,925 339
- Mainland China ~HE 519 669 - = 1 = 580 669
- Others ~Hftr 21,975 29,555 - - 2,926 - 30,901 29,555
Segment revenue fom extermal - SMRZEHHMA
customers 85,770 87,800 15,169 26,579 5,089 156 106,028 114,535
Timing of revenue recognition A RS2
Products and senices ranslered  ERRERHRE—HE
at apoint in time = 85,770 87,800 8432 12933 5,089 156 99,291 100,889
Products and senvices ranslered  ERRERHR—EAE
over time HESRE = S 6,737 13,646 - - 6,737 13,646
Total & 85,770 87,800 15,169 26,579 5,089 156 106,028 114,535

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

132



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA @
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining b) PEEFFENFGRENETENRS
performance obligation for contracts with customers B
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance AT E+_A=+—HBEREFE
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December BHNEE GREBITHIDRET WXZE
2022 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows: MR TERR A SRR BT -
Sale of goods LT. contract services
HEGR EREE ]
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C B % —E-C B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Within one year R—ER 225 225 1,210 1,386
More than one year but not more ~ BiB—EBFBBME
than two years - - 349 260
225 225 1,559 1,646
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfthlkA
2022 2021
b= 3 T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Bank interest income IRITFI B WA 277 160
Commission income (RPN 188 -
Dividend income AR B U 177 419
Government grants (note (i) B 8D (BEEG) 456 =
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets RIEFREEEZ WE 1 100
Reversal of provision for legal case ARG EERE - 500
Sundry income HIEWA 33 121
1,132 1,300
note (): During the year, the Group successfully applied for funding MEED): MAFE > AEEERIIAEBFIITHRER
support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti- I 3L BB 06 B s THEH ORI 3 51 &1 F
epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government. FEY - MUEEESERBADRRHEMEI
s AR B ETAE S s B R S o =K
The purpose of the funding was to provide financial support & L’H%EE‘EJ'?EEWL%&EMEE TE}J%XM"“
to enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise % ' %ﬁgﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ?\%ﬁé P S ]
HHEETANZMERETIE

be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
was required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES), NET

Foreign exchange (loss)/gains, net
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 22)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the

Group has four (2021: four) reportable segments.

Software Business

Business

Securities Investment (“Securities Investment Business”)

Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

WLETTEIN
10. Hthrzm R (E518) - 558
2022 2021
—EBCF B4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
ER (58 I 358 (900) 197
EBEEUATEEY RS
BEAFEBERE (6,604) 6,151)
HEYE BEKRRENEE (535) =
EEREERE (HiF22) - (9,000)
(8,039) (14,954)
11. DEHRE

MR

BERE (BHFREFEF)

#

B2CHE LIHEF B MB2BEMRE Z X

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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EEEERFBREARRSORTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEE__F+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. 7ERERE (@
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities () PNWEE - BEKEE
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the EENWZ G BURT R SRR
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial SFAFTIE AR ©
statements.
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and BEEDPBRFEADEDHBZENEIR

allocating resources between segments:

—  Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/ —  FREA9EH (BR) HELE
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central DB RATEURR A ~ R E AL A K2 PR
administration costs, finance costs and income tax BRNEAZ T 27869 8P EREUR
expense. R/ (HIRES18) ©

—  Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets - DHEECEMBEEEE -BF
and current assets with the exception of other corporate BEERTEBEE WAGEHEMDE
assets. ¥EE-

—  Segment liabilities include all current and non- — SHeGEaEmERSKRIERSE
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central B EREIEEST P RITE AR AR
administration costs and liabilities. =V

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged DWBEWATL2ERBLEIERIINARE R

to external customers for similar orders. WERHI B EE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets and

=
T E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A1 %5 SRR MY 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE

CLBTAIT)

1. DEERS (8

@ WEE -BERER @B

BRENBHAERNRSOBER HEE

liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: RBEAHWT
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TRER B2CH L
BARER HETAR
EARRAES B2BER
REEE  ESREER e Ba%% @it
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
k- St k- St k- St k- St k- Stk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR TER TER
Revenue WA
Revenue from external customers SHREBWA 85,770 - 15,169 5,089 106,028
Inter-segment revenue AEBRA = = = o -
Reportable segment revenue REDTUA 85,770 - 15,169 5,089
Reconciliations: B
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HEDBEBA =
Revenue WA 106,028
Results 25
Segment results NHPEE 22,638 (6,517) 1,373 (3,806) 13,688
Reconciliation: HiR:
Interest income FIEKA 217
Other income HtugA 193
Unallocated amounts FAEEE
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables —EthElE R ERERE M
- Corporate expenses —hERT (11,987)
Profit from operations FS=payil 2612
Finance costs REMA (144)
Profit before tax BranER 2,468
Income tax expense FrieiipEx (3,856)
Loss for the year rEEFR (1,388)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. SEI/SE @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) () DHEE BEREEEB)
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment results, assets and WREDHEAERMNREDMBEE EE
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) REBEDHAT (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
hEER B2CH L
BARER HETER
EfHEEH B2BER
REEE  ESREER PR Ba%% it
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
k- St k- St k- St k- St k- Stk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TR TR
Assets BE
Segment assets NREE 196,346 32,320 14,755 13,823 257,244
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FAEEE
- Right-of-use assets -FRREE 347
- Trade and other receivables -ERREMENE 654
— Cash and cash equivalents ~-RERBLEEN 43,202
Total assets BEEEE 301,537
Liabilities aff
Segment liabilfties NHEE 46,756 60 6,492 1,028 54,336
Reconciliation: HiR:
Unallocated liabilties FRE&®E
—Trade and other payables -BRRAMENTE 1,019
- Lease liabillties -HEEE 317
Total liabilities ElErE 55,672
Other segment information: Hitt3HER
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BENRE - - 2 664 666
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (35,911) - - - (35,911)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment NE -BRREETE - - (113) (65) (178)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEENE - - (6) = ()
Development costs capitalised RERAERE (46,856) - - - (46,856)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁu’/}ﬂ“ {E518RAY
SRHEENATEESE - (6,604) = = (6,604)
Legal and professional fees /ié REZER (52) (27) - (12) ©1)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables & B REWERA B BRAR - - 76 2,205 2,281

137 EBSERBEMRAT 20225FH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. DEHRE @

@ WEE -BERER @B

(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

BRENBHAERNRSOBER HEE
REBEINOT : (@

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets and
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Senvices  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TEEE B2CH £
BARER HETAR
BHRHEH B2BE®R
hER  ESREER RHER BREH st
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
B -F & ET-F BT “EC-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Revenue WA
Revenue from external customers SREEUMA 87,800 - 26,579 156 114,535
Inter-segment revenue AEBRA S S S - -
Reportable segment revenue REFPUMA 87,800 - 26,579 156 114,535
Reconciliations: B
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HEDBEBA -
Revenue WA 114,535
Results 25
Segment results NHPEE 15,678 (5,859) (1,561) (3654) 4610
Reconciliation: HiR:
Interest income FIEKA 160
Other income HtugA %]
Unallocated expenses FAEEZ
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables - AW ER EHEER 422
- Corporate expenses — (% (11,802)
Loss from operations REFE (6,517)
Finance costs B (235)
Loss before tax BRAEERE 6,752)
Income tax expense s (4,177)
Loss for the year KEEFE (10929)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. DEHRE @

@ NWEE -BERER @

(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

BEDHMHAERMNBREDEHER - BE
REEDROT : (@

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets and
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
DEER BoCHE
BARER HETAR
BHEEEY B2BE®R
ARER  ESREER RHBER EDES it
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
B -F & kb EC-E “EC-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET FET
Assets BE
Segment assets NHPEE 186,681 38,804 15,879 14,267 255,631
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FOEEE
— Property, plant and equipment W& BERRE 4
- Right-of-use assets —-FREEE 1,077
~ Tradle and other receivables -BRREMENE 657
- Tax recoverable LBl -
— Cash and cash equivalents -ReRRESEY 52,142
Total assets BENE 309,511
Liabilities aff
Segment liabities e 45,606 60 8873 43 54,970
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated liabilties FRE&AE
- Trade and other payables ~EBREMENTE 935
- Lease liabillties -HE&R 1,128
Total liabilities aREE 57,033
Other segment information: HthAHEHER
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BRERE - - ©) - ©
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (33,371) - - - (33,371)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment VEN G i = - (342) 62) (404)
Addltions to right-of-use assets REFCAEEE - - 94 = 94
Depreciation on right-of-Use assets FREEENE - - (697) - 697)
Development costs capitalised WERAERE (45,461) - - - (45,461)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FpBEm AT EESRN
SREENATEESE - (6,151) - - (6,151)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERESS - - (9,000) - (9,000
Impairment loss on other receivables Bl R ESE - - - (465) (465)
Legal and professional fees PRESEES I (95) ®) (40) 61) (201)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. SE}/RSE @)

(b) Geographical information b) HE=ER

(©

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and (i)
the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and goodwill (“specified non-current assets”).
The geographical location of revenue is based on the location of
customers and location of service rendered. The geographical
location of the specified non-current assets is based on the
physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets and the location of the
operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible

assets and goodwill.

TREJBAR)EERKBINATLHUR
AR (A EBBIYE - BB KR £
REE -BLEERBE (BREFRBE
) Nt B - IRARMIBUETDUER
FRUBREERFHUESEE -FE
FERBEENMIEUERRIBEEEBRFR
BRAE MBYE -BMERRERERESR
B REDREFNUE WBRTEER
HE) EE-

Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SHREFWA BEERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
¥ T -H IZEIZE C"ET—&F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Hong Kong &5E 16,089 27,619 174,673 162,614
United States ES 34,248 30,523 - =
Russia B 1,926 3,329 - =
Japan [SEN 3,928 6,675 - -
Germany = 6,905 5,762 - =
United Kingdom HE 5,496 5,208 - -
Canada MEX 2,892 2,712 - -
Australia B 2,668 2,483 - =
Mainland China FRED Py 580 669 644 524
Others Hith 31,296 29,555 - -
106,028 114,535 175,317 163,138
Information about major customers ) ERAFEEFFMER

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no individual
customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

BE_EZ__FR-_ZEB_—%+2A8
—+—HLEFE #HELRERBERA
10% U EBIEAZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE"Z__HF+_R=-1+—HLEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
12. FINANCE COSTS 12, BB
2022 2021
ZEICF TET—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 21) HEaBZF B (sEe1) 26 126
Interest on other borrowings HhEHF 8 118 109
144 235

13. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

Profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) the

13. BRMRALEF (B518)

BRI ATES (B518) Bk, GEA) T ¢

following:
2022 2021
—E-Z —ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(a)  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): (@) &I
(BIEEEHD) -
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMET 14,980 15,331
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETBIMERR 1,156 424
16,136 15,755
(b)  Others items: () HMIER:
Amortisation of intangible assets* B E 35,911 33,371
Auditor’'s remuneration ZE N 1,002 1,000
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ME--BERZEITE 183 428
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FEREEERTE 736 1,463
Impairment loss on goodwill¥ e ER 1B - 9,000
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss on B 5 KREMEWIE
trade and other receivables BEEE BR) s (2,722) 2,615

# Included in other gains and losses

Included in administrative expenses
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

T —

(OS5 7wllny)

RS M IR R 5E

F+—B=+—HIEFE

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FRISMAX
(@)  Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) #HREERERACEINERE !
loss represents:
2022 2021
T HF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current tax EHRNIE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —EEBFER
Provision for the year (note (i) REEEE (HEE) 1,926 2,059
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBREEE (32) (30)
— Withholding tax (note (ii)) —Fain GEEk) 156 145
2,050 2,174
Deferred tax (note 34(a)) FIEFRIE (MYEE34(a)) 1,806 2,003
3,856 4177
note ():  Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of MIEEG):  REBEMAGIREREE > REBRIL
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong NEERERBIRNE2,000,000%
will be subject to a tax rate of 8.25%, and profits above that Toim A IL8.25% I EHAR > i
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of BZEEEZ R AR LL16.5% MR =
the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rate oA amBREFERHIEZER
regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%. BREMNGEN B EEIL16.5%N TR
o
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate for the subsidiary in the PRC R B A B A A B R B 1 2 PR TR
is 25%. However, no provision was made for the financial years %25% © A B AEEKBABE
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the subsidiary incurred CRERB HITERBE_S -
tax loss in the years. FRIE-—F+"B=+—HItH
BEEEHEE-
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate BN B ABIMIRIEHIRBAEREE
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which EMTEBREARNREEG 2ERK
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation BEZBIRITERNREASHE -
and practices in respect thereof.
note (i): ~ Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which MEEEG): MAURSEBRINELETINAHEE

customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries.

Fr RN ZRARMERRTE
BHREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEE__F+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 14. FRGIRAX (@)
()  The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product (b) FrESRFEZHERRRAIEERUBHERES
of loss before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is as HZHERNT -
follows:
2022 2021
-t B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIETEA], (B518) 2,468 6,752)
Notional tax credit on loss before IR EA16.5%5T H VBRI AT
tax, calculated at the rate of BIELERRIEIRR
ende 407 (1,113)
Income tax on concessionary rate REBEMEFENMENR (165) (165)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERRUBANREZE (292) (2,754)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7~ 5] #1388 2 FIFR 75 52 28 343 6,395
Tax effect of temporary differences RERYGREBENREE
not recognised 930 (522)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised R HESE R IR TERS IB IR 75 2 28 2,752 2,243
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B RIBE KRR RIEGIENRE
previously recognised - (210) 29
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBREEE (32) (30)
Withholding tax FEINM 156 144
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries WEABREMENFTE (33) 8
Income tax expense FRiSiBEE 3,856 4,177

143 ESERBEMRAT 20225FH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2021: two) of
them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 16. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2021:
three) highest paid individuals are as follows:

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
CLBTAIT)

15. &E#FMAL

EhtEeFMATER Hpma (CT2—
Fmw) BEESHFNALTRESR WEERK 16
KB THREBF= % CEIHF =B RS
FHENA TR S ABEE -

2022 2021

—E-- &

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FExT

Salaries and other emoluments e REMME 2,668 3,426
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIERR 54 54
2,722 3,480

The emoluments of the three (2021: three) individuals with the highest

=% CEZ—F ! =) KA TS

emoluments are within the following bands: TRTHEE :
2022 2021
—ECH T
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AN
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 %1,000,000%8 7T 2 0
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 21,500,000 70 1 )
3 3

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year.

BE_T__FR-ET—HF+°A=+—HLE
FE AERFRTLERAEAIERSHMA LM
HENERMATEE BV EE SR BRIV EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEE__F+"A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EFEMRER
(a) Directors’ remuneration (@ EEHM
The remuneration of each director was as follows: BEZHMOT -

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEAREEE (FRATADIERBATER) BEEHRRKNHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary  Share based scheme 2022
fees in kind bonuses payments contributions Total
e 2R bR k- Janpent
EENE BWF = HEBTEAL AERMZM RAGEIHER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET FER FET FET

Executive directors HTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong HERZRE - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (note (i) 2B LA (HIEH) - 1,080 180 - 18 1,278

Independent non-executive directors BUEHITES

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (note (i) RIRGER (F3EG0) 36 - - - - 36
Mr. Chan Yung BmERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei WEREEE 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Wong Chi Yan (note (iv)) HERLL () 84 - - - - 84

360 2,280 180 - 36 2,856
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(@)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

16. EFENRED (@)

(@

EEHMW (B

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEANBTER (RRATAARENBEARER BEEAREERNHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary  Share based scheme 2021
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
e 2k BARE AR BT —F
e BRI WETAL ARENIM  RIAKEHEER 4ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT FET FET TET
Executive directors HiTESR
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BEERE - 1,200 - - 18 1,218
Mr. Zhang Long (note (i) SREESTAE (M3H() - 32 - - 2 34
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (note (i) 2B LA (HIEHi) - 900 - = 16 916
Independent non-executive directors BIEHITES
Professor Chui Tsan Kit (note (ii)) BBERIR (M 3E(i) 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yung BmERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei HEERE 120 - - - = 120
360 2132 S = 3 2,628
Notes: Mk -
0] Mr. Zhang Long resigned as executive director of the Company on (i) RELEENRZZE-—F-A/N\H#EEX
8 February 2021. NEHMITESE
(i) Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was appointed as executive director of the (i) FEXRERZZE_—F_AN\HESE

Company on 8 February 2021.

(iii) Professor Chui Tsan Kit resigned as independent non-executive
director on 19 April 2022.

(iv) Ms. Wong Chi Yan was appointed as independent non-executive

director on 19 April 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

ERTARPTES-

(i) REEBER_ZT__FHA+ABE
EBUFRITES-

BEERLER_E-__FENA+ABE
EEABIIENTES-

(iv)

BE_ZT__FR-ZE”Z—F+ZA
=+—HLEMBEFE  AERLESAE
AMEFERNES ERREMBERES
SRR NN B R ST AT OB B S (E A B B A B o

BHE_ TR _ZT-_—%+_A1

= +—HLMEAFE SEEERERXRF
BEMEETNE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received any termination
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by entities connected with such directors

As at 31 December 2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans or
other dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and the directors’ connected entities (2021: None).

BRIEREIRAT 202255k
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$NIl).

18. LOSS PER SHARE

(@) Basic loss per share

BE—S-—&E+-A=+—HILEE
BTN
17. KBS

EETESEMEE T+ A=+—HIt

FERCEARE (CE2Z—%F:

18. #&RREE

@

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average

BREAEIR

) -

SREXBREDBRELAFEEARBEAA
e RN B BT EEROMETI9REK

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. FHEo
2022 2021
-z T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FET
Loss B8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KABEE NELRBEE
and loss for the purpose of calculating basic SREREBENEE
loss per share (8,059) (18,197)
’000 ‘000
TFhE A&
Number of shares K ER
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Bt EEREREEN
for the purpose of calculating basic loss per ZiBRMETERE
share 444,448 444,448
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREAREE GBI (1.81) (4.09)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18.

19.

LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
(o) Diluted loss per share
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the

years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, as the Company did
not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary shares during

BEE__F+"A=+—HIFE
BTN

18.

A (8
b) SREEHEE
RAEEE AR A ADREENEETE

THEEER BRIRBRERE"_T
FRIBE--F+-A=+—HLEMESF

the years. EMNESRELREE-
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 19. HithZ2m=E
Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the AFEEHM2ARGSEEERNRBLE .
year:
2022 2021
ZEICE BT -F
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
STk REp% BRiResE B EIEE MIBES BRiBEE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TERT TiET FET FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI FBEM2ERE
MATBETIERMN
SREE
Fair value changes NFBEEZE
- Equity instruments -RATR 27 - 27 68) - 68)
Exchange differences on translation of T &SN B AR B H R E
financial statements of overseas EEMNERES
subsidlaries 60 - 60 (1) - (1)
33 - 33 (84) - (84)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) CUETTAIN)
20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. ME-BERRE
Computer
Leasehold Office Furniture and hardware and Motor
improvements equipment fixtures software vehicle Total
fEn AR ffih TR
% ®fE REE REH AE by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TiEr TiEr TiEn TiEn
Cost 578
At 1 January 2021 = Rl 316 a7 249 2,158 980 4,050
Additions HE - - - 6 - 6
Disposal HE 5 65) (49) ©5) - (409)
Exchange adjustment ERBE - - - 16 - 16

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 BIZEZ-E+ZF=+-H

RZE°"£-5-H 316 282 - 2,085 980 3,663
Addltions hE - - - 666 - 666
Disposals HE - - - (557) (980) (1537)
Exchange adjustment ERBEZ = 5 5 (42) S (42)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ#+°A=+-H 316 282 - 2,152 = 2,750

Accumulated depreciation and impairment &t ERis{E

At 1 January 2021 RZ2Z—%—-F—H 304 336 245 1,616 381 2,882
Charge for the year FEETH 12 8 4 77 327 428
Written back on disposals HEER - 65) (249) (95) = (409)
Exchange adjustment ERBE = - - 3 _ 3

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022~ RZE-—&£+-A=1-H

k-E2--_£-F-H 316 279 - 1,601 708 2,904
Charge for the year FEETH - 3 - 71 109 183
Written back on disposals HEER - - - (135) (817) 952)
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - - (33) - (33)
At 31 December 2022 RZB_"F#+°A=+-H 316 282 - 1,504 - 2,102
Carrying amount IREfE
At 31 December 2022 RZEBZZE+ZB=+-H - - - 648 - 648
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ—5+°A=1+-H S 3 - 484 272 759
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21, EREEE

Office Office
equipment premises Total
b YNES ] b YNELYES Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHATT FATT
At 1 January 2021 é:g:—ﬁ—ﬁ—a 57 1,627 1,684
Additions RE 94 1,432 1,526
Depreciation e (31) (1,432) (1,463)
Termination Kk - (581) (581)

At 31 December 2021 and RIE2-—F+-A=+—H

1 January 2022 k_E__F#—H—H 120 1,046 1,166
Depreciation e (20) (716) (736)
Termination Kk (83) - 83)
At 31 December 2022 NZEZZ&+=-H=+—H 17 330 347

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$317,000 (2021: HK$1,218,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$347,000 (2021: HK$1,166,000) as at 31 December 2022. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and leased assets are
not used as security for borrowing purposes.

RIS+ -_HA=+—H HEIHEEEHN
#A317,000087T (ZE - —4 :1,218,00087T) ° &
FR#347,0008 7T (ZEZ—4 : 1,166,000 7T)
BEREEEER SRS HEME 25
MmAEEER]BIEERERBR

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FAET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREEENTERS 736 1,463

Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in -~ FAESEF S5 Gt ARERA)

finance costs) 26 126
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in 2 EATH EMERAR S Gt ABE &Y R4

cost of goods sold and administrative expenses) K1TEFH ) 335 100

Gain on termination of right-of-use assets BIFFRAREEZ W& 1 100

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 40(b).

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one year to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group

assessed the recoverable amount of CGU of all components, no
impairment loss in respect of right-of-use assets was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
22, GOODWILL 2. BHE
Corporate
Management
Solutions and
L.T. Contract
Software Business Services Business
(note a) (note b) Total
TEEERR
HFRREMRE
B BHRBES
(Mista) (¥ zEb) fax
Boom Max
International Limited
(“Boom Max”)
and its subsidiaries
(collectively
referred to as
“Boom Max Group”) Wafer HK
Boom Max
International Limited
(TBoom Max )
REKBAR
(478 Boom Max
£H)) BEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TET
Cost A&
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZB2Z—-%—-A—-H-ZZ°—-F
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 +-B=+-B-ZE-_"f—H
—BRZBEZ_F+”-A=+—H 757,662 20,913 778,575
Accumulated impairment losses REHERE
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—HF—H 697,496 11,554 709,050
Impairment loss recognised BEZDRESE 9,000 - 9,000
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R _Z_—&+_BA=+—HkK
"5 "F—-B—H 706,496 11,554 718,050
Impairment loss recognised ERDRESE - - -
At 31 December 2022 RZE-__&#+"B=+—H 706,496 11,554 718,050
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2022 RZE--_&#+-A=+—H 51,166 9,359 60,525
At 31 December 2021 _—#+”-H=1+—H 51,166 9,359 60,525

Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition,
to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business

combination.

BREFAFHIBNEEREER DEE4RER

R R BN ZEGAHNREEL BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 AN

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22,

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU,
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are the higher of the VIU and the
FVLCD.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited
(“Ascent Partners”), an independent professional valuer, to determine
the recoverable amount of the CGUs of the Software Business and
Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business
as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

(a) CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of the Boom
Max Group’s CGU on the basis of their VIU (2021: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are consistent with last year
which are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the year. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and
revenue are based on past performance and expectations on
market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR R 5E

BETE__HF+_A=1+—HIFE

CLBTAIT)

22, W/

BEHENRTELBETHRER

@

(&)

DI (:\E)

Boom Max%= [B 59332 2 1 #E T (#)

Boom Max(E@EREEHBTHNEREE
STEFERANEEEROT

Boom Max Group
Boom Maxt£E

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

ZEIE —E_—F

+tZA=+—-H +ZA=+-H

Gross margin ESTIES 80.20% 79.80%
Growth rate BE= 2.48% 2.711%
Discount rate FhIR= 16.90% 16.17%

As at 31 December 2022, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group is valued at approximately HK$220,384,000. As the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom Max Group exceeded
its carrying value as at 31 December 2022, no impairment was
required for the Year.

With all the other variables held constant, if the gross margin
used in the value-in-use calculation were decreased to 77.35%,
then the management estimates the headroom would drop to
zero as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group was valued at approximately HK$193,224,000 which
was lower than the carrying amount of this CGU, due to the
expected annual net profit margins during the forecast period
in 2021 were lower than the projection of those for the previous
forecast period made in 2020 by taking into consideration various
factors including the increase of development expenditure, the
volatility of the global economy and the keen market competition
in the I.T. market. The CGU of Boom Max Group had been
reduced to its recoverable amount and the Group recognised
an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$9,000,000
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The impairment loss
was included in other gains and losses.

RIEZZF+A=+—H &28FYL
FHEH BT - Boom MaxEEIREE H
B8 eH mT e (Bl BB AV (f 1B 49 #3220,384,000
7T o R Boom Max®EEIREEHE TR
TR CFE+ZA=+—HNIKO&EE
BHERRE WAFEEZBEEHRE-

EFEEMEBRETBNERT
EEREEHERERANENETRE
77.35%  BIEBBEH R S E+=
BE=+—AWBBEHRES.

RIEZ—FE+"A=+—H &2
FHEH BT - Boom MaxEE IR E H
Behal i [El & BB (EEAY#3193,224,000
B BEREELREcNREER
BEREEESERER (B1EREZ HEMm-
R E RS REMRNET SRR
BRI —EEASAENEEMARNE
BRIBEZEEH E—EENBEBAEN
B -H#E_E—F+A=+—HIE
FE>Boom MaxEBRESEHETRER
AEl B R A ERBERE S RERIE
499,000,000 7t o W E 5B 5T A H il =
K518
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14 AN

A1 %5 SRR I 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

CGU of Wafer HK

As at 31 December 2022, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of the CGU of Wafer HK based on VIU (2021: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount
rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover
during the year. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth
rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate
of the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past
practices and expectations on market development.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group engaged
Ascent Partners in assisting to assess the recoverable amount
of the CGU of Wafer HK. Pursuant to the valuation report from
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of Wafer HK as at
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$12,000,000 (2021:
HK$29,900,000) which was higher than its carrying value, no
impairment was required for the Year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

(b)  CGU of Wafer HK (continued)

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Wafer HK

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

22, BHE (@)

SEEENREENETRERNR @

© REEEBHHETELNET ()

REEARSEHNECNEABEESER®

are as follows: ANFEERENOT :
Wafer HK
BEEE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—ECEF 25
+ZA=+—H +ZRA=+-H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Gross margin EF] 29.17%-30.00% 26.24%
Growth rate BEX 2.48% 2.71%
Discount rate ARIR = 16.42% 12.98%

With all other variables held constant, if the gross margin used in
the value-in use calculation were decreased to 27.97%-28.79%,
then the management estimates the headroom would drop to
zero as at 31 December 2022.

TFEEMEERFAENERT M
HEREBESERERANENETESE
27.97%E28.79% M EEEHFAN S
T IE+ A=+ —HMBRERRKRES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BE"Z__HF+_R=-1+—HLEFE
CLBTAIT)

23. EREE

Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone

software
(note (a))
B R RED
B
S Ja#:N
(F¥zE(@))
HK$’'000
FET
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2021 R_Z2-—%—H—H 262,791
Additions through internal development EBNEEZARE 45,461
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—%+ZH=+—H
1 January 2022 T "&#—HF—H 308,252
Additions through ZIERNEAERE
internal development 46,856
At 31 December 2022 W2 _HF+-"B=+—H 355,108
Accumulated amortisation and HeHB RO ERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 R —F—HF—H 172,029
Amortisation iy 33,371
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RS- —F+"HA=+—HKk
- "F#—HF—H 205,400
Amortisation iy 35,911
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ—H#4+=-"B=+—H 241,311
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_#+-HA=+—H 118,797
At 31 December 2021 N2 _—F+_B=+—H 102,852
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 represented the expenditure incurred for developing
computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and mobile
phone software is four years (2021: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as at 31
December 2022 and 2021, having regard to the market conditions
of the Group’s products. These assets were used in the Group’s
Software Business segment. The management is of the view that the
carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2022 could
be supported by the future economic benefits. No impairment loss was
provided.

S B HmRME

lw'F
BEE__F+"A=+—HIFE
CETTAIT)
23. BEEE (@)
BHE_Z - _HFRIZT—HF+°A=+—HLE
FE RERCHEERANIEHEER R RBIER
REFEENAZ -
@Hﬁ(&m BN ORGSR MNE

—®— ).
REEFEEESNTRE ARER S
ER-BC—E+-H=+—ARNEEER
RO EEGGERRANTIRE S REEE
BRAEBNKELE B ERERS %
BN R REENEER "S- "F+ 8
=+ —BNEEE - BRI AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

HE

———

=

CLBTAIT)

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

R B ABKRE

FH+"A=1+—HLFE

RS-+ A=+—0 TEREEEE
S HERAEZNBATHENT :

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary [;rm ﬁ;gf I?al entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
HRAR L
HiRSEne/ BRTRAERE/ FrEgRE/ Rrg/
WEAR A EEBRTR SREREE HMERFBALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”) limited liability company
Lucky Famous Limited RERZHEE IREBERIET REZK
(MLucky Famous ) (EBEREE) /
AREALH
Jade Fore Group Limited BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Jade Fore Group Limited EBRYHE/ 1REERIET REER
BREFAH
Citi Profit Holdings Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Citi Profit Holdings Limited HBEYEHE/ REERIET REER
AREALH
Citi Profit Finance Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
BERBRRAT &5/ BREFTAT REBRIET BEEEX
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Securities investment
(“Perfect Growth”) limited liability company
ERERAF (E2) &5/ BREFTAT REBRIET HHRE
Supreme Right Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Provision of management
Development Limited limited liability company service
ERERERAR &5/ BREFTAT REBRIET REBERE
Apperience Corporation Cayman Islands/ 20,666,667 ordinary shares of - 50.5%  Inactive
(“Apperience”) limited liability company US$20,667
Apperience Corporation BERE /EREFAT 20,606,667 A% & 18 %20,667% 7T BREE
(T Apperience 1)
Imidea Limited Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
Imidea Limited &5/ BREFAT 10 EER10E T BERBEREUR
RETERES
[Obit Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 65.177%  Inactive
limited liability company
I0bit Limited HBEYEHE/ REERIET LEgg
AREALH
Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
ERBERBRAR 55/ BREFAT 10K EBRI0ET BERHERHT R
RETERES

BRIEREIRAT 202255k



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

I\ )

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,

.S

KRB ARKRE (8)

FH+ZR=+—H TEXELEH

assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are as follows: *xBE BEHABBEZNBABINGEBEAT : (@
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
AR,
B REEM/ ERTREERE/ FrERE/ RnE/
WEARRE EERRRT A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Mission Win International Limited ~~ BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
EBERERAR HEERYHE/ RERRIZT RERR
BREFAH
Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Provision of corporate
Limited limited liability company management solutions and
.T. contract services
BERR (&) BRAT B8/ 10,0008 % &2 10,0007T RACEEERALRR
BREFAH BHNEANERS
GET Financial Group (International)  BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
BREREM @R ERAT  EBELEHE/ RERRIZT REER
AREALH
Profit Support Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
ARERAT HERUHE/ 10,000/% & 182 10,000% 70 REER
BREFAH
GET Development Limited Hong Kong/ 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 = 100%  B2C Online Sales Platform
limited liability company and B2B Product Trading
Business
BREBERAT a8/ 1008 & 8100 7T BCHLHETAR
BREFAH BBEREZEH
Zhiyi Trade Development The People’s Republic of Registered capital of US$1,000,000 = 100%  Provision of management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd China (“The PRC")/ (Paid up US$NI) (note i) service
wholly foreign owned
enterprise
BREZYE (R ERAT  PEAREME (FE) /  H#BEZR,000,000%7T RILEERS
(rB &) SEBELE (B8Z2x) ()
City Dragon Global Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
HERNERAR HERUHS/ 10,0008 & #10,000% 71 RERR
BREFAH
City Dragon (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
IHge (B8 BRAF &8/ 10,0008 & ##% 10,0005 LEgg
AREALH
Sure Team Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
ERERAT HERUHE/ 10,000/% & 182 10,000% 70 REER
BREFAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24. RHMIBATMIKRE (@)
Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results, RIE - _F+__B=+—H TEXELXRE
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are as follows: *xBE BEHABBEZNBABINGEBEAOT | (@
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
AR,
B REENE BETRERRE/ PRk ®AE
WEARRE EERRRT A& RS HMERFBALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Sure Team (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  B2B Product Trading Business
limited liability company
TR (&8 BRAR ) 10,0008 B8R 10,0008 7 BBEREHEH
BREFAH
Boom Max International Limited BW/ 100,000 ordinary shares of = 65.177%  Investment holding
limited liability company US$100,000
Boom Max International Limited S BRELEHE,/ 100,000 8 100,000% 7T REER
AREALH
Profit Winner International BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Corporation limited liability company
Profit Winner International RBERELES/ 1REERIET REER
Corporation BREAAH
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Service Winner Limited &8/ REERIBT Eax
AREALH
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited EBRZEE,/ 1008 B BR100% T gRex
BREFAH
Million Worldwide Investment BW/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
Milion Worldwide Investment HBRUHE/ 100/ & BRR100% 7T RELR
Limited BEREFAH
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Talent Vision Limited 5% 1REERI AT BEEE
BREFAH
Note (i): B 5 () -

RIE—AFENB+HIB FEERTERI—BEE
WEAS 857 sFMEZA%1,000,000%= 7w (HHE
R#7,760,00087T) cRZEZZHE+ZB=+—H &
EENRBEZFIFE - RIESZFINZ AR ER2H
A EAEEHER BHE=1TFRASEZFIEA

On 19 August 2019, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, 25 5 &I,
in the PRC with registered capital of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,760,000). At 31 December 2022, the Group has not yet injected capital into
% 5 &3, Pursuant to the articles of association of %8 5 7%&3)Il, the capital shall be
injected to 25 5 %3l within thirty years from the date of its establishment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24, PHBATIRIRE (&)

TRETHEAHAERMSBEANIFERED
(TR NINB AR ER - MHE BRI E
ENBIEH AR

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company
eliminations.

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2022 2021
Principal place of business/country of FEE M Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation AR IR BVI BVI
oy B/
EBELEES HEBELEHE
% of ownership interests/voting rights IEER RIS ERE 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI i,/ RARE DL
Financial information is MEBERHEEWT -
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At 31 December: n+_A=+—Q1:
Non-current assets ERBEE 113,817 102,872
Current assets MENEE 30,296 31,815
Current liabilities mEBE (10,488) (4,460)
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE (16,974) (16,974)
Net assets BEZE 116,651 113,253
Accumulated NCI IR R 40,618 39,435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24,

BE"Z__HF+_R=-1+—HLEFE

CLBTAIT)

RHBABRKRE (@)

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% &

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAET
VYear ended 31 December: HE+_B=1+—HLEFE:

Revenue A 85,770 87,800
Profit for the year FRiEF] 18,695 20,392
Total comprehensive income 2HEW R AERE 18,695 20,392
Profit allocated to NCI BN FIEEREmRET] 2,323 7,100
Dividends paid to NCI BRI FIEERERNREE (5,258) (5,353)
Net cash generated from operating activities RS EEFTIS IR EIRRE 17,385 51,890
Net cash used in investing activities KRETEFTARESERE (46,856) (45,460)

Net cash generated from/(used in) RESEBATE (FTA) R F58
financing activities 20,257 (23,025)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERREEERLIFE (9,214) (16,595)

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI

25. FRHMEEWEUATFEETRNE

RhE =

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET

Listed investments, at fair value BAFEEFEN LHERE
Unlisted investment, at fair value ELHRE BATFE 1,040 1,067

Analysed as: PAUTIEES

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,040 1,067
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (continued) 25, FBRHMEEWEUAATEETIRNE
AEE (@)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one of the equity securities BE_Z_—F+__A=+—HLtEFE —EE
investments was delisted on the Stock Exchange and was reclassified RESRERBEBUE Em T EHSEEIEL
as unlisted investments. The fair value of which is estimated by using MEE-RHREPFR ELAFEEH—LBLE
index return method by an independent professional valuer at the end of = EEMERBYMEREAEHE BBEMEE
reporting period. Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in Hong HmAAFEBEIRNEMEEETIIE.
Kong dollars.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, fair value loss of approximately BHE_ S+ "HBA=+—HILEE RHfM
HK$27,000 (2021: loss of HK$68,000) have been recognised in other 2EWRPHER R FEERBEN27,0008T (Z
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation T —F  §54868,00087T) MR E B ERERE

26.

27.

reserve (non-recycling).

RRE (FRIEE) -

INVENTORIES 26. 75
2022 2021
—ECHF T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Finished goods B SR 1,290 1,544

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. BHREMEWKRIE

2022 2021
kot 5 T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 AR 16,307 26,253
Less: loss allowance (note 27(b)) A BEEE (H5E27(0) (5,027) (7,329)
11,280 18,924
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBASIE 7S R EMERFIE

(note 27(d)) (MtzE27(d)) 14,481 2,327
Amounts due from brokers FEUR AR 42 =R IB 2,435 6,713

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of e — R K A B FE AR R YRR IE
a subsidiary (note 27(e)) (MFzE27(e)) 88 30
Other loan receivable (note 27(f) HnpEWwER (IsE27() - -
28,284 27,994
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

uﬂ'\

BT

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@) Ageing analysis of trade receivables (@
According to the credit rating of different customers and service
providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from O to 90
days (2021: O to 90 days) to its trade customers and service
providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out

in note 6(c).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for
impairment loss) based on due date is as follows:

BE"Z__HF+_R=-1+—HLEFE

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

B 5 EURTRBVIRES DA

RIBETEEL RIRFFHERNESTH
SERATHESRL KRB HEENE
BHNTFOER (ZE=—F :0F90AH) °
BRAEBEERRNE— P BN
£16(c)°

N2 B R A R O FE W AR TR M R AR BR
B EBERNEEREZARERR-

B 5 BURR (ORI E IR H) RIRE
HARPVBREG DATIN T ¢

2022 2021

- 3 TET—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Not due RAIHA 10,170 14,020

Less than 1 month past due B F1E R 653 695

1 to 3 months past due HHR1E3EH 286 367
More than 3 months but less than 12 months #1#AB@3(E 3 B/ L i 12E 8

past due 169 22

Over 12 months past due BHIBBE12(E AR 2 3,820

1,110 4,904

11,280 18,924

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b)
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment

loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(v)).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade

receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and
collective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c)

(d)

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

Currency denomination of trade receivables ) EBFEWEREREN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are AEEEZRUGRANREEU TG
denominated in the following currencies: HE :
2022 2021
T T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHET
HKS$ BT 887 1,375
Us$ ET 10,155 17,199
Japanese yen (“JPY”) HE (THE) 238 350
11,280 18,924
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (d) FECSRIE- R REMMEWRERIE

)

Other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim
Wah Elsa

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated
13 June 2016 in relation to the acquisition of AP Group
Investment Holdings Limited (‘AP Group Investment”)
together with its subsidiaries, referred to as the (‘AP
Group”) , in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group for the period from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2017 is less than HK$16,000,000, the
vendor shall, and Universe International Holdings Limited
(now known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group
Company Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046) shall
procure the vendor to, pay to the Group the adjustment
amount according with the formula set out in the sale
and purchase agreement (“Profit Guarantee”). The vendor
is Fragrant River which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Universe. Further details were set out in note 44(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2020,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables was
receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to

included in the Group’s

the consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

) FKEREHLERMELLZAME
Leresl

RERBEEHERERBRAA
(TEHEmER  EREMB R

BSBIENER)) STZHARC

_/\E/\ﬁ‘f’* EZ%E%WJE%’
HEHEER _Z2—<E—HF—H
EE_ZT—+tEHE+"_B=+—HIE
HREzEBEZHREES R DR
16,000,000 75> BIE A K EFEH K
ZERBRAR GRS FIRE L
EBERRAB) (EF BMHRSE:
1046) EIREE KRB E R EME
ARABEREREZAHAESE (D
ReE)) " BRELABFZ2EM
BAT - BRE—FTHBERNES
W5 IR R M 44(a) 0

BE_Z_ZTHF+_A=+—8"
FEBHNBECRE - RERHEME
WHRIEEBEBE_E—RF+Z
A=+—HULEFEREBEEHER
PR ERBEMIET REFEL
B9 71 FE R TE20,400,0007 7T ©

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

166



167

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

uﬂ'\

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

)

Other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim
Wah Elsa (continued)

As set out in note 44(a), the Group had been taking
litigation process against Fragrant River, Universe and all
relevant parties including but not limited to Mr. Chan Sze
Long and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa, the former directors of AP
Group Investment (the “AP Group Litigation”).

As at 31 December 2020, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$17,400,000 was provided for estimated
irrecoverable receivables.

On 1 February 2021, the Group entered into an agreement
of settlement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with all
relevant parties of AP Group Litigation Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, the parties have agreed to repay
HK$6,000,000 in aggregate (the “Settlement Amount”)
by installments in order to settle the AP Group Litigation.
The Group reversed provision for ECL of approximately
HK$550,000 and written off the provision for ECL of
approximately HK$14,400,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, the balance
of the Settlement Amount due by Mr. Chan Sze Long and
Ms. Lim Wah Elsa were approximately HK$860,000 and
approximately HK$1,149,000 (2021: HK$1,142,000 and
HK$1,308,000) respectively. A reversal of allowance of
approximately HK$441,000 was made during the year.

As at 31 December 2022, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$2,009,000 (2021: HK$2,450,000) was
provided for estimated irrecoverable receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss
allowance is set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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WM EE44(a)FF 8 ZEB—EHE
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17,400,000 75 ©

W_E_—F_F—H AEHEHA
E/RE’]FEE% BFEETi_

% (TR - R\|EM
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B s INEHFERERDHA
BB 5 $£6,000,000% 7T (MRS
) o UFMBEPERGFR - BEZ
T —F+_B=+—HLEE
AEBEBCBEREEEEREY
550,000 7T & M tE A RRE B A5 18
BE##914,400,00087c R 2 -
F+ZA=+—H BBHLLER
MEEL TGRSR D B
##9860,0007 7T K2 491,149,000
T (T —4% 11,142,000 T K&
1,308,000/ 7T) c RAFEIELEE
#[E149441,000 BT °

RWZZEZZHE+ZHA=+—H’B
AT AR EIE W FIESHE R 5T
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

(i) Other miscellaneous receivables

As of 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were
miscellaneous receivables which have been identified
as having a significantly elevated credit risk and have
been provided for on a specific basis. No provision
for impairment loss was made in current year. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, impairment loss of
approximately HK$593,000 was recognised in profit and
loss.

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed
repayment terms.

Other loan receivable

The other loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy of approximately
HK$27,230,000 is unsecured, interest free and is repayable
upon demand subject to the consent of all shareholders of Jun
Yang Energy. The shareholding of the Group in Jun Yang Energy
has been diluted from approximately 35% to approximately
1.67% since 6 September 2019. Jun Yang Energy ceased to
be recognised as an associate in the consolidated financial
statements. Since then the Group reclassified the loan receivable
from an associate in respect of the loan due from Jun Yang
Energy to other receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS M IR R 5E

BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE

(OS5 7wllny)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

(d)

(e)

()

FARIR RS R HEMAEKTRIE (8)

i) BMiEEERSE

BE_Z-__F+-B=+—8>
AEENBECIRE EEREME
R I B IE M TE R R IE (B A
ACERBEEZE FATERSEEE
BEEREE) - NAFEELRIELRE
EEREE -B#E_TS _—F+_
B=+—HLEFE RNiBmHEIMN
BB 1B 4 5593,00078 7T ©

FELU—FEI P /8 2 B B FF A AR A S TR IE

BRRERERR - REEEEEENN
PR

HithFEER

FE W E [ BETR£927,230,00078 TR EH Mt &
RAEERP REARRERER FE
EBEREERERARBHASEE-BZ
E-NFENANBE XEBREBER
HIBE R B AI35% B E491.67% c BIFAE
BRI RS BRRERARE QT -
Bt ZEBREBERMXEREND
HEN—BEEATNERETHMENRE

=+
o

FEBMRB—RA A REBYBREE
AR EMNTRIEERER - ARMBERE
BT E RN RS BREMEE6()°
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

T E+"A=t+—RAIEEE
BTN

ERRmUATEEIIRNEREE

2022 2021
T HF T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET

Equity securities held for trading, at fair value AT EEFENFIEEBERAEARE
Listed in Hong Kong R&EEL™T 24,036 30,487
Unlisted equity securities JEEMRAE S 1 1
24,037 30,488

Analysed as: PMABUTIER

Current assets MENEE 24,037 30,488

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments represent listed equity securities investments that offer
the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair
value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in an active market
are based on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair
values of listed equity securities which are suspended of trading in an
active market are estimated by using the index return method by an
independent professional valuer.

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets

at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established
securities broker firms in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

4 A

I\ )

CLBTAIT)

20. AYAaE

S MBHRRIE

BETE__HF+_A=1+—HIFE

2022 2021
ZEIZHF T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET

Billings in advance of performance obligation BROEEEAENR
— I.T. contract services — BB SR 1,559 1,646
— Sale of goods —tHEEMm 225
1,784 1,871

Contract liabilities relating to I.T. contract services are balances due
to customers under |.T. contract services. These arise if advance
payment was made by customers before the Company recognises
the I.T. contract services. Contract liabilities relating to contract for G R - AHEE R G4

VERNEHNEaEE
ERERREBBERBSEFSNIFLNEE

sale of goods are mainly progress payment made by customers under

contracts for B2B Product Trading business.

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022 was mainly
due to less advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

fixed price contracts.

Movements in contract liabilities:

INE/

FFEQ

GHREEE :

BB S ORFEMN SO ERREBEER
B AaNRGENERNER - HEAREAE
EREANRSORBA O AMNRE AlE

ENEER S _F+-B=+—HRALH=E
zl%%@lmﬁﬁmﬁw 1% A BTE ORI

2022 2021
ZEIZH BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Balance at 1 January W—B—R#&8R 1,871 1,957
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HEANESDREATStASH
recognising revenue during the year was included BRIBA
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the Eyanarad
period (1,386) (1,692)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of biling in  FAE R S AR TR
advance of I.T. contract services BEREHRMEEN 1,299 1,606
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—H#%8R 1,784 1,871

The amount of bilings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$349,000 (2021: HK$260,000).

260,0007%7T) ©

WEINBENRAMNMEHE BN BE—F&
R AU A) #975349,0008 T (ZEZ—4F .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m?l'\

S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

30. BIEFRITERUAKRRERFEEEY

2022 2021

—ECEF BT —fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Cash and bank balances RE KIRIT4EER 70,592 81,852
Pledged bank deposits BIRFPIRITER 630 630
71,222 82,482

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$630,000 (2021: HK$630,000) which
were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent of
HK$500,000 (2021: HK$500,000) granted to the Group. The deposits
are denominated in US$. The pledged bank deposits are interest
bearing at fixed rate of 0.45% (2021: 0.025%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had available undrawn secured
banking facilities of approximately HK$304,000 (2021: HK$214,000).

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

FRIBTHIRSRBLERITESRERF R REAR
B BRI KB AR B o

R —H#+-_HA=+—H > ZEENDIER
IRITERUE IR FIRITHNERA%A630,0008 7T
(ZTZT——4F : 630,000/ 7T) » (EAAREBERE
B #£500,000/8 7t (ZZ Z—£F : 500,0007 7T) iR
TREER ERUETIE  BIRFIRITER
FEEFEFZE45E (ZFZ—4 1 0.025) &t
Bo

R_E-__F+_RB=+—H  AEENTFHA
RIEERA EIFIRITRE A A304,00087T (ZF
Z—4 1 214,000 7T) ©

FEBNEBRRBETERURRERFSEEY
RBIE5IE -

2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Uss$ ET 56,539 58,540
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR TARED) 3,356 8,680
HK$ BT 10,551 14,486
Euro BT 776 776
71,222 82,482

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances and pledged bank deposits MNRIE__F#+ZA=+—H > Zm"EBUA

of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$3,141,000 (2021: HK$8,489,000) were kept in banks in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k

RIESIENIBRITEGRRECERBTERNS
3,141,000 7t (ZZ = —4% : 8,489,000/ 7T) B 17
AR FREEIR1T o 4 AR B R IR SN S AR
E5hEE R OB A B ER N EERREE
7o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS M IR R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BEZS-H+_A=+—HItFEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) CUETTAIN)

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. B RHEMENRIAE
2022 2021
—E-CF B —H%
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Trade payables B EMIRR 2,335 2,536
Accrued expenses and other payables FEE R R EMEIRIE 5,438 6,687
7,773 9,223

(@

(b)

Ageing analysis of trade payables (@

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of
receipt of goods/services, is as follows:

B 5 B IRMRBVIRES DA

g5 BARTIRBEWERE & R#% B 8K
SRES AT :

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Less than 3 months DRR3E R 1,346 1,656
More than 3 months but less than 12 months BiEsfE A B/ 1218 B 989 880
2,335 2,536

Currency denomination of trade payables (b)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

B 5 BRI E B

FEHEFRMORTNEEDEZUTER
FE

2022 2021

i) —ET—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET THET

uss$ ETT 1,043 2,177
HK$ BT 1,292 359
2,335 2,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32. BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the borrowings represented loans

from financial institutions.

At 31 December 2022, the loan is unsecured, bear interest at 12% per

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

32.

B

RN _E - —FERZE_—F+ZA=+—H &
TIERBE TR ENEN

ﬁ\_$::¢+_ﬁ =+—R'ERRERE-

annum (2021: ranging from 3% to 12%) and repayable within one year. BERZF12% (CTTZ—F N F3%E12%) 5t R
A FER —FAEE
The borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and exposed the EREEEFENE AL AEETERAFE
Group to fair value interest rate risk. BF =R
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the BN EREEEUTEMEIIE
following currencies.
2022 2021
T TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
us$ =T - 267
HK$ BT 600 1,000
600 1,267
33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HHEAR
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
REREHER REASARNRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C BT —F —E-C BT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTET TERT TET
Within one year —FR 315 856 313 829
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —&E L HBRBBME 4 336 4 332
More than two years, but not more than MEULERBBRE
five years - 60 - 57
319 1,252 317 1,218
Less: Future finance charges B RRHBEL @) (34) - -
Present value of lease obligations HERKZHE 317 1,218 317 1,218
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B 12[E B NEBAERUE (R
months (shown under current liabilties) BEEE T (313) (829)
Amount due for settlement after 12{8 B 2 EaE
12 months 4 389

BRIEREIRAT 202255k




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANClAL STATEMENTS
nv'F Ejﬁiﬁﬁlzﬁ. -‘-I

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_Z__H+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) CUETTAIN)
33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 33. HE&E®E
All lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Fre A EEMRIBLUBTTETHE
The weighted average increment borrowing rates applied to lease KAEFEEE G EERNMEST LI SEZHF RN
liabilities of the Group range from 3.62% to 3.64% (2021: from 3.36% T3.62EE3.64FE (ZFEZ—4F : 3.36EE10.11
t0 10.11%). [E) °
34. DEFERRED TAX 34. RIERIA
(a) Deferred tax liabilities (@ EEREEE
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the UTRAKRERRINIELERIBEERS
Group:
Intangible
assets
BIEE
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 January 2021 A _E_—F—HF—H 14,968
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) HiBmINkR (BsE14(a) 2,003
At 31 December 2021 and N_B2_—F+"A=+—Hk
1 January 2022 - "F#—HF—H 16,971
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) B MBR (IEE14(2) 1,806
At 31 December 2022 A —_E__F+"A=+—H 18,777
(b) Deferred tax assets (b) IEERIESE
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused RREBPFR AEBERBAREE
tax losses of approximately HK$309,946,000 (2021: 1849309,946,0008 T (ZE - —F .
HK$295,102,000) available for offset against future profits. No 295,102,000 7T) » al K8 R AGEF) ©
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has HRAEEREETBRNREMNRIE K
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit W L AL B AR TE RS 1B FE ST IR IE R IBE
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of E RERRMEGEEAEENR -4
approximately RMB721,000 (equivalent to HK$869,000) (2021: TET—F T RE) HHENYA
RMB398,000 (equivalent to HK$488,000)) that will expire in FE#721,0007t (1E72869,000/&7T) (ZF
2027 (2021: 2026). Other tax losses may be carried forward ——% : AR398,0007t (t8 & 2488,000
indefinitely. BIT)) HEEE iR IBE B v MIRHRAS
% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m?l'\

S BHmRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE"Z__HF+_R=-1+—HLEFE

BT

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. f&#
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SKREE RirEE =%
HK$ '000 HK$'000
BT T FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares TR
At 1 January 2021, ‘C:;:—EE—E—EI .
31 December 2021, 2T —%+ZAH
1 January 2022 and =+—B-Z2HF
31 December 2022 —BA—HERIZBZ__HF
+-B=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
Ordinary shares ZiEK
At 1 January 2021, F‘_%:—EE—H—EI S
31 December 2021, —_E_—®F+_"HAH
1 January 2022 and =+—H- =" "%F
31 December 2022 —A—HERIBZ-HF
+ZB=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444

175

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard

to the Company’s residual assets.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k

EERFAAARENIREIRNRE  TA#
RERBDARE LRER—EBRERR-FIELEE
REFRBDRGEESBMHEZER SR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes borrowings, trade and other payables
and amount due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises
share capital and reserves.

During 2022, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2021: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

BE

RS M IR R 5E

&+ A=+—HIEFE

CLBTAIT)

35.

2022
—2__

HK$’000
FERT

ez (48)

FEREEEXTZSEMREREBNFERE
fES BB EEARKTHENER KRB EBEU
RAZREEMARISRE MA@ ESRRS
R[EIHR o

REMBR K E R R EEEBE AR LU
RS ETRK T Rl A 6 2R B 1 2 AR BR[O $R 22 Y
BRAE TR IAHRAE @ K RE 2 BT
> WA H IR IR B SR Y B A ZRAR (R L I i o

FEBRFIABDZREEHREEIERAEERRH
BAAEE Bt ERBEHF AR EREHRE
(BB TR~ B 5 oo EL M FE 3 RRIE K FE 15 — R Bt
BRBMIE WMER)) - B EERAE R

NI 5 AERERRNNKRBAEREE
HEREERNBIBIS% (T —F 1 45%) 89
KF o BRFRF[EZLE  AEMABEHRK
HRAHRESBE - BITHMRMD AREZES
I EENETREREEEELURE

The Group
mEEH

The Company
AT
2022 2021
—ECF EZ2C”HF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHTT

2021
B —fF
HK$'000
FHET

Debts &%
Equity e
Debt-to-equity ratio BEHEELEE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2022, approximately
25% (2021: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.

36,895

204,280

18%

40,062 61,971 61,534

212,306 35,031 60,736

19% 177% 101%

KRB REEAWBERRLEZ INTEMBE L
REFRARIR

IR EEREATERBEFBEEL25% A
BIF R E AR E R B A2 FTGEMAY L i o A&
EESEBERCEBRELERTIERGER
FEHRERIEFARERENRE  RIENFR—
BHETERBWREARE - RN_E"F+A4
=+—H 425% (T - —4F 1 25%) RMHEAA
FATER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E- _HF+_A=+—RALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BT

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. BATIMBRARKFEHEES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

@ TREMBRRE

(@) Statement of financial position of the Company

2022 2021
—E_HF B —F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
(g FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB KRS - 4
Investments in subsidiaries RBRAENKRE 234 234
234 238
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments and deposits BEINEREN S s 235 230
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS I B A B 7 54,521 71,139
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 42,012 50,663
96,768 122,032
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Accrued expenses and other payables FE(S & R e
I8 3,361 2,874
Amounts due to subsidiaries B ABRIE 58,610 58,660
61,971 61,534
Net current assets RBEERE 34,797 60,498
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERTEBEE 35,031 60,736
NET ASSETS BEFE 35,031 60,736
Capital and reserves B K E
Share capital [l 4,444 4,444
Reserves G 36(b) 30,587 56,292
TOTAL EQUITY RS 35,031 60,736

Approved by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Wong Jing Shong
HihE
Director

EE

177 EBSERBEMRAT 20225H

REFGNR _ZE_=F=A+tH#ttAEL
AU TESFAREE

Lau Siu Cheong
EAPIg=
Director

EFE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b)

nv'F
HE_ T+ _F=+—HIFE
BEBTTAIT)
36. FRFIMBKRRARKEEESE (@

S B HmRME

37. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

Reserve movements of the Company b) EAFFEEES
Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
RiniEE BRREG ZithE EeHy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FTET BT
At 1 January 2021 AZR”—%—F—H 517,181 988,713 (1,447,811) 58,083
Loss and total comprehensive income FEEFBREERGERE
for the year - - (1,791) (1,791)
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2022 ,2::& BA—H 517,181 988,713 (1,449,602 56,292
Loss and total comprehensive income FEEEBREERGEAE
for the year - - (25,705) (25,705)
At 31 December 2022 RZIB2Z-F+-RA=+—H 517,181 988,713 (1,475,307) 30,587
37. f{#fE
Group @ ZH£EH
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEBFEREESSEN GEERERE
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and teERaAREAGSEREEHRET -
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
Nature and purpose of reserves b) EEHEERERN

)

(i)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation
scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the public listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 December 2001,
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange thereof.

{0 BR17 a8
REBEBRE—NN—FRAFE XK
NERDBEBEBERAT U BALIR S
Dilke

i)  EEE

AEENEHEFERBERALTH
PR _EE2—F+"A+/\HHIE

RERFE HEBEIRTRMOI
Hﬁ‘”ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂi%@mﬁﬁ’ﬂé
MEEt8 (TEMEA) BB R
BINRAEEBEARE R
BFITHRMEERNZERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37. RESERVES (continued)

38.

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

Contributed surplus (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
thereof.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

— the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

— the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note

account.
(i) Investment revaluation reserve
4(K).
(iv)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(d).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to either directors or employees of the Group in order
to recognise and motivate their contribution, to provide incentives and
to help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting
additional employees by providing them with a direct economic interest
in attaining the long term business objectives of the Group. The share
option scheme was approved by the shareholders in an annual general
meeting on 13 June 2017 and adopted on 15 June 2017.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT

37. f#E @
b) HENMERBEN @
) EEEE )

AABMBEHEFEREEREAR
BB B AR AT EEBAE
NEBMMETHRMEENE
ge

BREEBRE-NN—FREEE
BB FRIRA D IR T IRE © 22T > {iH
BEUTER EARBTRFEIK
FIRTKRE HEEHBEBPIEDY
Dk

— FRERBREIRGERE
EEEHIESEE %

- FREEEMNEREER
KNEREIHREEERH
BETRAENKRRM GER
Ry#BAN -

(i)  REBHFE

REEGRBECERRERERER
NEBEMEEWE A FEET
RNETMEENRF LT EEEH
TPER > WARYR M S AP EL B S EUR
BRIE o

) BRI

REEME R #ESETERIME
EEBVBREEENMAINEE
BE o ZREH R R M T4 PR & 5T IR
BRERIE

38. URRIDAERAIZ (T

ERESENENAGEEAREREAEREZEEII(E
ERTERE USTERABEEZER/ 12MH
REUREWAEEREHEREREERIBEES
EBE ARENERAERNRIPEL BERIRE
HERKEN @ BRESAEIN 22—t F A
+=HNRREFAZERRALERNR S —t
FERB+HBERM



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

38.

39.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any time
terminate the operation of the share option scheme and in such event
no further options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions
of the share option scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior to such
termination.

No option was granted under the share option scheme up to date of
approval of this report.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately. As at 31 December 2022, there were no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future obligation.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.

RS M IR R 5E

HE—S-—&+-A=t+—HiEE
LGETTHIN
38. URRISAEMRMNZ (T (@)

39.

RRB P RER IR A G LB BREREILESF
BRESE RZBERT HASRZAMBER
MRS PTA Bt s E - RS BIRRIER
Mo BER ARG AR THERBERENITE
EMBLE

BEEAREMEZR
fEaRE -

R RS R

REMHIRAKETE
NEBRRIBEES B LG F4855 14 E AR 5TE
& AT EERBEEASENEER ARG
AREETE (aEssts)) caEst8n—18
HEIZEASTENREHIURKE - RiRAR
B B REEES AN EZREESERH
WA IS %R - 1S B A B U AR LR #30,000
BrroptZst B EHRIEREB N2
F+ZA=+—H > BEIUHERA R KK
e

ZEE B R B AR ST Y B B A BRI (B B 233 5 T
FEENTREES NS %M BABER
EEEEHERIENETAN LATREES
SRR RRARENES - 5 H B AR
EIEZM B AR A RA RARRRIKES BRI
BHEFE -ZMBABLFREESTEIRME—
BEERRESEFHPARMHR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@ Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in

BE_ T+ _RB=-1+—HIFE
BT

40. HFAEREREBRME

@ MEEBFIEEEEZHER

TRFLAEEREZTHELEZARED

(BEREAIFREEY) -MEZHELE
ZBEARERBENRKREREFN
FERGEREREBR D BEAREZTIHR

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BREREZEBE
from financing activities.
1 January Interest 31 December
2022 Addition  Termination Cash flows expenses 2022
“ECCE
—E-F +-R
—RA—H RE &1k Rene R8s =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR TET THER TET FET
Borrowings (note 32) & (EE32) 1,267 - - (667) - 600
Lease liabilties (note 33) TAEAE (:33) 1,218 - (84) (843) 26 317
2,485 - (84) (1,510) 26 917
1 January Interest 31 December
2021 Addition  Termination Cash flows expenses 2021
BT -F
“ET-F +2A8
—B—H RE 1k Rene FER% =+—8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET TER FER FER FHET
Borrowings (note 32) & (M5E32) - - - 1,267 - 1,267
Lease liabilities (note 33) HE&ME (F533) 1,858 1,526 (681) (1,611) 126 1,218
1,858 1,526 (681) (344) 126 2,485
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANClAL STATEMENTS
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BE_ T St _RA=1T—HILFE
(OS5 7wllny)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

40. HFAEETRERME (@)

(b)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for

(b) FHEZREMHLLLEE

SAAGRERENEXAWNEESHEE

leases comprise the following: THIRIE !
2022 2021
ZEIZHF -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Within operating cash flows REREREN 361 226
Within financing cash flows MERETREN 817 1,485
Lease rental paid [SENEEES 1,178 1,711

(c) Major non-cash transactions © FEFREXRS

()  During the year, the Group received dividends from listed ) REEE AEEBLMHEFKE
securities which were settled by 666 ordinary shares of G5 ZEREUZ ETABRE66
this listed company at market value of approximately e ERAASE > mEAA153,000%8
HK$153,000 and was included in financial assets at o WEF ABBBREUARFEES
FVTPL. IRMBREE o

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group i) ®WE_Z—F+ZA=+—HIL
entered into new lease agreement for the use of office FE - AEEMRERBRAMEMSE
premise for 2 years. On the lease commencement, the ST E R - R ERBR > &
Group recognised approximately HK$1,526,000 of right- EERERFEAEEEL,526,0008
of-use assets and approximately HK$1,526,000 of lease TTREE & EX1,526,0008 7T ©
liabilities.

41. COMMITMENTS 41, KIE

Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

RREIROBREENT :

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI AEREME
— development costs for intangible assets —EBREENMRERA 43,125 45,461
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42,

43.

44,

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises
and B2C online platforms. As at 31 December 2022, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed in note 21.

As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding lease commitments relating
to these office premises and B2C online platforms is approximately
HK$204,000 (2021: HK$33,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than the outcome of litigations as disclosed in note 44, as at 31
December 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

(@ AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation
to, among other matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest
in AP Group Investment (“Acquisition”) and the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16
July 2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(“SP Agreement”) with Fragrant River (“Vendor”) and Universe
(“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 51%
equity interest of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of
HK$20,400,000, subject to downward adjustments as described
below, which shall be settled by way of allotment and issued of
40,800,000 new ordinary shares of the Company, credited as
fully paid, at the issue price of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor
(or its nominee), on the date of completion. The AP Group was
principally engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-
enhancement training programmes in Hong Kong. Completion of
the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.

BRIEREIRAT 202255k

BHE_ S HF+B=1+—HIFE
BT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP
Agreement, in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group Investment attributable to its owners from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017”)
(which would only include income or gain generated by activities
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the AP Group)
(“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than HK$16,000,000, the
Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure the Vendor to,
pay to the Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment amount
(“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment
for FY2016 & 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”)
are available. The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in
accordance with the formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%

Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 &
2017 Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be
zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 &
2017 Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited,
adjusted for any non-recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall
be deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group had requested
the Vendor and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000 on or before 26 June 2018 according to the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. On 22 June 2018,
the Group received a letter from the legal adviser acting for the
Vendor and the Guarantor that they will defend the purported
claim of the Group for the payment of the Adjustment Amount
alleged by the Group.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and
the Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016
& 2017 Audited Accounts were made available to them, the
Group had not received any payment of the Adjustment Amount
from any of the Vendor and the Guarantor.

The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
potentially breached their contractual obligations by failing to
repay the Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard
the legitimate rights and interests of the Group, after seeking
legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding (‘AP
Acquisition Litigation”) against the Vendor as the 1st defendant
and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant. A writ of summons with
an indorsement of claim were filed by Lucky Famous as plaintiff
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group claimed against
the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount of
HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or
other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were
filed at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong on 26 September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the
Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the
Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs;
and (d) further and/or other relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze
Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (‘Lim”) for () damages in
the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests; (g) costs; and (n) further
and/or other relief (collectively, the “Legal Action”). The Board
considered that Chan and Lim, who are the former directors of
AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on 18
July 2018, have potentially breached their duties and obligations
in contract and tort by failing to, amongst other things,
prepare audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group
Investment for the year ended 31 December 2015, provide the
auditors of AP Group Investment with the written information that
they requested to support their audit, and keep and/or preserve
adequate accounting records in respect of the transactions
entered into by AP Group Investment, its financial position and its
financial performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy Limited (“Very Easy”), a company wholly
owned by Chan, and City Link Consultancy Limited (“City Link”),
a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of any
liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved and
entered into a settlement agreement (“Settlement Agreement”)
in relation to the final and full settlement of the Disputes (as
defined below). In accordance with the Settlement Agreement,
the parties agreed that (i) the disputes in the Legal Action;
and (i) any other claims and complaint that the parties to the
Settlement Agreement may have against each other arising out
of or in connection with SP Agreement in respect of the sale and
purchase of 510 shares of AP Group Investment entered into by
and among the Vendor, Very Easy, City Link, Chan and Lim in
2015 and the SP Agreement (collectively, the “Disputes”) shall be
settled in full.

In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i)
the Vendor and the Guarantor shall pay to the Group a sum
of HK$1,500,000 at the time of signing of the Settlement
Agreement in full and final settlement of the Disputes; (i) Chan
shall pay to the Group a sum of HK$2,700,000 in full and final
settlement of the Disputes, by paying (a) a sum of HK$1,300,000
at the time of signing of the Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum
of HK$23,500 per month for 59 months starting from 1 March
2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a final sum of HK$13,500
on or before 1 February 2026; (i) Lim shall pay to the Group a
sum of HK$1,800,000 in full and final settlement of the Disputes,
by paying (a) a sum of HK$200,000 at the time of signing of the
Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$26,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and
(c) a final sum of HK$36,500 on or before 1 February 2026; and
(iv) within 7 days of the date of the Settlement Agreement, Lucky
Famous or its legal representatives shall file at the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong a consent summons
for discontinuing the Legal Action with no order as to costs. The
Group shall be entitled as of right to take immediate legal action,
including commencing bankruptcy proceedings without further
notice if Chan and/or Lim fail(s) to make full and timely payment
of any of the instalment(s) under (ii) and (i) above.

On 16 February 2021, the High Court of Hong Kong granted an
order by consent that, amongst others, Lucky Famous would
have leave to discontinue the Legal Action against the Vendor,
the Guarantor, Chan and Lim.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018,
16 July 2018 and 1 February 2021.
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44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP
Group Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons
in the High Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st
defendant and Lim as the 2nd defendant (collectively refer to
as the “Defendants”) for the matters as detailed below (‘AP
Management Litigation”). Chan and Lim are former directors
of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and the
controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest
in AP Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Lucky Famous. As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group
Investment, all members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of
the Company and their financial results have been consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the
deconsolidation of the AP Group becoming effective on 1 April
2018. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision
of self-improvement and self-enhancement training programs in
Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the
Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of
the experience and expertise of the Defendants in running the
AP Group, it was agreed by the parties that the Defendants
were wholly responsible for the efficient and proper management
and operation of the AP Group, including but not limited to,
the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping proper
books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group
Investment, including that of all the subsidiaries of the other
members of the AP Group to the Company within 15 days after
each month’s end. After the resignations of the Defendants as
directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 and up to
the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the
accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group,
including but not limited to records in relation to the students’
records, instructors’ records and information on potential
litigations, for the period of seven years immediately prior to the
date of their resignations as director of AP Group Investment on
18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

AP Management Litigation (continued)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding against the Defendants. The Group claimed
against the Defendants for the reliefs, including but not limited
to, delivering up of the Full Business Records, accounting for the
assets of the AP Group for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
July 2018 that were in the power, possession or control of the
Defendants and damages to be assessed.

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy, a company wholly owned by Chan and
City Link, a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of
any liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved
and entered into a Settlement Agreement in relation to the final
and full settlement of the Disputes. Details of the Settlement
Agreement refer to note 44(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 July 2018 and 1 February
2021,

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received an amended writ of summons (“Amended
Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court
of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities
Limited (“3rd Plaintiff’) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff
collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (“Perfect
Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the
defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the
Amended Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged
Independent Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of
the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around October 2015 (“October
2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of the 1st
Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.
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44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(c)

Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the
Plaintiffs against Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as
against, among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment
of the 1st Plaintiff's shares to, among others, Perfect
Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is null and
void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed and/or damages to be
assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other
matters, the October 2015 Placing and the allotment of
the 1st Plaintiff’s shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect
Growth (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; (d) further and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect
Growth’s defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its
reply to each of the other defendants’ defence and as such the
pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not been closed
yet.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying values of the shares of the
1st Plaintiff held by the Group were approximately HK$1,040,000
(2021: HK$1,067,000) and HK$770 (2021: HK$800) included
in financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL
respectively.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

45.

46.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and their
remuneration are disclosed in note 16.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Directors are aware
that one of the bankers of the Group, Silicon Valley Bank (‘SVB),
was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and
Innovation on 10 March 2023, and the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) of the United States of America has been
appointed as receiver of SVB (“Incident”). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group has total bank deposits held at SVB of approximately
US$361,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,800,000) of which
US$111,000 (equivalent to HK$861,000) is uninsured. These deposits
are subject to the FDIC’s fund transfer arrangement. In the opinion
of the Directors, the Incident has no material adverse impact on the
Group.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION
LFEMBHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2018, 2019,
2020, 2021 and 2022.

UFAEAERHE_S—N\F - _E—IF - ZZTF
ENTET—EFERTECHF+"A=+—HIERESE
ENEHEEEUREEREBERE-

RESULTS E 3
Year ended 31 December
BE+ZB=+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZEZC ZEXT-F  IZIZF  IEZ-AE  IEN\E
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER FEx FhET FEx
Continuing operations RECEER
Revenue WA 106,028 114,535 231,404 369,839 133,230
Profit/(loss) from operations BEER, (518 2,612 6,517) (28,442) (58,570) (215,584)
Finance costs B A (144) (235) 98) (103) =
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate Eih—BE AR/
(E548) - - - 887 (21,704)
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—EaEhEEsE - = = > (1,174)
Profit/(loss) before tax BrERAER (8518) 2,468 (6,752) (28,540) (57,786) (238,462)
Income tax expenses Pt (3,856) 4,177) (3,870) (3,894) (5,830)
Loss after tax from continuing REFECEEKRRE
operations 5t (1,388) (10,929) (32,410) (61,680) (244,292)
Profit after tax from REBKRILEE LR
discontinued operations MR B R - - - - 25
Loss for the year HEEE (1,388) (10,929) (32,410) (61,680) (044,267)
Loss attributable to MTFALREGESE
- Owners of the Company —FAREEA (8,059) (18,197 (39,286) (67,200) 251,411)
- Non-controlling interests —JEEE AR 6,671 7,268 6,876 5,520 7,144
(1,388) (10,929) (32,410) (61,680) (044,267)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
As at 31 December
®+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ECfE T Z-THE  _“Z-hE I )\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER T FHET FEr
Total assets BERE 301,537 309,511 326,665 370,896 433,035
Total liabilties & B8 (55,672) (57,033) (57,821) (64,320) (53,723)
Non-controlling interests FEERR R (41,585) (40,172) (38,257) (36,724) (36,547)
Total equity attributable to KATHEE AEMN
owners of the Company Py 204,280 212,306 230,587 269,852 342,765
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